Published for SISSA by 🖄 Springer

RECEIVED: January 24, 2024 ACCEPTED: February 24, 2024 PUBLISHED: March 14, 2024

# An eikonal-inspired approach to the gravitational scattering waveform

Alessandro Georgoudis $iglinet{b}$ , $^a$  Carlo Heissenberg $iglinet{b}^b$  and Rodolfo Russo $iglinet{b}^b$ 

 <sup>a</sup>Centre for Theoretical Physics, Department of Physics and Astronomy, Queen Mary University of London, Mile End Road, London E1 4NS, U.K.
 <sup>b</sup>School of Mathematical Sciences, Queen Mary University of London,

Mile End Road, London, E1 4NS, U.K.

*E-mail:* a.georgoudis@qmul.ac.uk, c.heissenberg@qmul.ac.uk, r.russo@qmul.ac.uk

ABSTRACT: We revisit the amplitude-based derivation of gravitational waveform for the scattering of two scalar black holes at subleading post-Minkowskian (PM) order. We take an eikonal-inspired approach to the two-massive-particle cut needed in the KMOC framework, as highlighted in [1], and show that its effect is to implement a simple change of frame. This clarifies one of the points raised in [2] when comparing with the post-Newtonian (PN) results. We then provide an explicit PM expression for the waveform in the soft limit,  $\omega \to 0$ , including the first non-universal,  $\omega \log \omega$ , contribution. Focusing on this regime, we show that the small-velocity limit of our result agrees with the soft limit of the PN waveform of [2], provided that the two quantities are written in the same asymptotic frame. Performing the BMS supertranslation that, as discussed in [3], is responsible for the  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  static contribution to the asymptotic field employed in the PN literature, we find agreement between the amplitude-based and the PN soft waveform up to and including  $G^3/c^5$  order.

KEYWORDS: Classical Theories of Gravity, Scattering Amplitudes, Black Holes

ARXIV EPRINT: 2312.07452



## Contents

1	Introduction	1
<b>2</b>	From amplitudes to classical GR observables: the elastic case	4
	2.1 PM impulse	6
3	From amplitudes to the PM waveform	11
	3.1 The 5-point 1-loop amplitude	13
	3.2 The NLO PM waveform	15
4	Soft expansion	20
	4.1 Method of regions in the soft limit	20
	4.2 Universal soft terms $1/\omega$ , $\log \omega$ and $\omega (\log \omega)^2$	21
	4.3 Non-universal soft term $\omega \log \omega$	22
5	Gravitational-wave tails in the soft regime	24
6	Conclusions and outlook	30

#### 1 Introduction

Since 2017 [4] there has been a renewed interest in using QFT techniques to study *classical* gravitational binaries. The trademark of this approach is to begin the investigation from the scattering problem, i.e. open rather than bound systems, where questions can be directly formulated in terms of the S-matrix. In this way, it is possible to use amplitudes as starting points to calculate observables that characterize binary scatterings.<sup>1</sup> Several techniques have been developed to extract from the full quantum amplitudes the classical results of interest [13–17], including matching the QFT results with an EFT description [13, 15], using the KMOC framework [16] or the eikonal exponentiation [17-20]. The QFT based/inspired approach has lead to several explicit new results starting from the conservative deflection angle at 3PM [21] and then considering more general observables and increasing the precision: focusing on the scattering of Schwarzschild black holes see for instance [22-25] for amplitudes and [26-30] for the worldline effective theory. A general feature of the results obtained in this way is that they are valid for generic relative velocities, since Lorentz invariance is kept manifest throughout the calculations. As a non-trivial check, one can expand the PM expressions obtained in the small velocity limit and compare them, in the common regime of validity, with the results available in the PN literature [31-34]. This comparison has been so far relatively straightforward as the physical observables considered in the references above were quantities with a simple dependence on the reference frame, such as the deflection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>In addition, for some quantities it is possible to give an explicit map between open and bound orbits [5–7]. Alternatively the scattering results can be used to inform an Effective One Body models [8, 9] as recently done in [10-12].

angle, the impulse of the black holes, the total energy and angular momentum carried away by the gravitational radiation.

In this paper we focus on a more complicated scattering observable: the gravitational waveform itself. The leading PM result was obtained within the GR framework long ago [35, 36] and, more recently rederived in [37, 38] by using a worldline theory one-point function equivalent to the classical limit of the tree-level 5-point scattering amplitude [39-41] with two incoming and two outgoing black holes and an extra graviton in the final state. The comparison with the PN waveform at the leading order for small velocities was already discussed in [36], but a systematic comparison with the PN results obtained in the Multipolarpost-Minkowskian (MPM) expansion [31, 42-44] has been started only recently [2]. As can be expected, the comparison is trickier because of the dependence on the precise reference frame. The complication becomes fully manifest when including also the first subleading PM order which requires knowing the classical limit of the same five-point amplitude, but now at one-loop. This quantity was obtained in [45-48], where, despite the rather complicated form of the result, it was shown that it has the expected structure. The leading contribution in the amplitude as  $\hbar \to 0$  limit is more singular than the tree-level, but it is killed when extracting the classical physical observable following the approaches mentioned above. So in [45-48], the waveform was directly identified with the subleading term of the amplitudes, but it was pointed out in [1] that this is not the full story because the KMOC approach implies that the waveform includes also an extra contribution associated to cuts of the 5-point amplitude with two intermediate massive particles. In a parallel development [2] initiated a detailed comparison between the PN expansion of the subleading PM result of [45-48] and the MPM result for hyperbolic orbit pointing out some mismatches between the two approaches.

It may be natural to think that the two observations above are related and that agreement between the amplitudes and the MPM waveforms would be restored once the contribution pointed out in [1] is included. We investigated this possibility by focusing on the soft expansion of the full waveform reaching an order where all the points raised in [2] are visible. We find that agreement between the two approaches is indeed restored, but in a subtler way than guessed above. Let us briefly summarize the tensions highlighted in [2]:

- 1. The amplitudes (KMOC) and the MPM results are naturally written in two different frames that differ by a rotation of  $\Theta/2$ , i.e. half the scattering angle. While this difference is irrelevant at leading PM order, it should matter for the NLO comparison, and [2] found that even at the Newtonian level the subleading PM term match only if the two results are interpreted to be in the *same* frame used in the MPM approach.
- 2. Various radiation reaction effects are important in the physical waveform. In the PN expansion they start at 1.5PN order with the leading contribution of the tail effect that is already correctly reproduced by the result of [45–48]. However, at 2.5PN order  $(1/c^5)$  corrections with respect to the Newtonian result), ref. [2] found discrepancies between the PM and the PN results already in the probe limit (the linear terms in  $\nu$  for small mass-ratio  $\nu \ll 1$  limit, see (5.8) below). This is rather surprising since this part of the NLO PM waveform is completely determined by the well-known tail effect [49, 50].
- 3. The mismatches found in [2] become even more substantial beyond the probe limit when several contributions, due to the non-linearities of gravity, become relevant.

In order to shed some light on the points above, we start by studying the cut contribution of [1] and point out the similarity with a mechanism present in a much simpler observable: the 2PM impulse [16, 51]. In that case, an analogous cut contribution is important to reproduce the longitudinal parts of the impulse of the process that are present in the frame aligned with the initial spatial momentum of the black holes, while they would disappear in the frame rotated as in point 1 above. Based on the intuition from the eikonal approach, it is natural to expect that a similar pattern holds for the waveform as well and this is further supported by an observation of [52] when studying the waveform to leading order in the soft limit. If this is the case, the cut contribution of [1] should take a simple form in impact parameter space. We show that this is the case by following an approach [53] used also to calculate observables related to the angular momentum from the eikonal operator [20, 54], obtaining a simple expression for this cut in impact-parameter space. We validate this derivation by performing cross checks both in the soft and in the PN limit, and in particular by checking that in the PN limit it agrees with the impact-parameter Fourier transform of the full momentum-space result for the cut obtained in [55] (see also [56] and v4 of [45, 46]). This provides a first-principle derivation for the rotation mentioned in point 1, so we then move on to the analysis of the disagreement between the amplitudes and the MPM results in the PN limit.

Since, so far, it does not seem possible to write a manageable expression for the full PM waveform, we focus our attention on the limit of soft radiation,  $\omega \to 0$  (or equivalently the early/late time behavior of the waveform). This regime has been under intense investigation since the seminal papers by Weinberg [57, 58] and has more recently been discussed in a series of papers [59-62] both from the classical and the amplitudes point of view. The first three terms in the soft expansion,  $\frac{1}{\omega}$ ,  $\log \omega$  and  $\omega (\log \omega)^2$ , are universal in the sense that they can be obtained by acting with an appropriate operator on the elastic result. We extend our analysis to include the next term,  $\omega \log \omega$ , providing an explicit NLO PM expression for it. Then we reassess points 2 and 3 above by using this result: by following [2], it is instructive to focus on the difference between the PN results obtained from the soft waveform as derived from amplitudes and those obtained from the soft MPM waveform. This difference does not vanish at order  $1/c^5$  for the non-universal  $\omega \log \omega$  soft term already at leading order in the probe limit which, as mentioned above, is entirely determined by the tail effect. However the  $\mathcal{O}(\nu)$  mismatch we found is much simpler than the one reported in eq. (9.13) of [2]: with our result, one can reabsorb such mismatch with an appropriate choice of the time-origin of the frame (the freedom to perform such shifts was already highlighted in [2]). This solves the discrepancy presented in point 2.

We then move to point 3 in the list above by including the  $O(\nu^2)$  terms in our analysis. Again, we find a simpler result than eq. (9.13) of [2] for the difference between the amplitudes and MPM soft waveforms, however at this order we cannot reabsorb the mismatch simply by a time translation. Note that at this level we start probing in detail both formalisms: on the MPM side various effects become important, including the use of retarded propagators and the non-linearity of gravity (see the review by Blanchet [31] for a discussion of these points), while on the amplitudes side the corresponding contributions come from "rescattering"-diagrams where one can isolate a Compton-like subamplitude. In particular on the MPM side one has to take into account some non-linear relation between near- and intermediate-zone multipoles (see for instance (5.20)). In evaluating these contribution at the PM order we are interested in, one needs to use the *static* contribution to the waveform which depends on the choice of BMS supertranslation frame [3]. This issue has played an important role in the calculation of the radiated angular momentum [53, 63-70] which depends on the static part of the LO waveform. It is thus natural to expect that the same issue is relevant for the NLO waveform at least for the terms where the static terms are important. The most natural guess is that the NLO waveform obtained from the amplitudes approach is written in the "canonical" BMS frame, as defined in [3], while the MPM result is in the frame used in [63]. Since from [3, 71] we know the supertranslation connecting this two frames, it is straightforward to compare the two results in the *same* BMS frame: we find that the mismatch mentioned in point 3 above then completely disappears when using our soft result for the amplitude-based waveform! This shows that the disagreement arises due to two different choices of asymptotic frames, which differ by a BMS supertranslation, rather then a Poincaré transformation as for the first two points.

The paper is structured as follows. In section 2, as preparatory work, we recall some results about the elastic process in particular to present a derivation of the 2PM longitudinal impulse which is instructive for our purposes. In section 3 we review the results on the 1-loop 5-point amplitude [45-48] and the cut contribution highlighted in [1]. We obtain an explicit expression for the latter in term of known leading PM quantities. The key point of the derivation is to move to impact parameter space before doing the integrals over the cut propagators, which allows to simplify the expression since only the long-range contributions survive. In section 4 we perform the soft limit of the NLO PM waveform derived from the amplitudes approach including the first non-universal term. In section 5 we compare our soft results in the small velocity limit with those obtained in the PN MPM approach and reassess the mismatch with the amplitude-based waveform pointed out by [2]. We provide a simple symmetry argument showing that the 2.5PN contribution to each multipole does not receive corrections from the cut highlighted in [1]. However, we show that the results in the two approaches match after making sure that they are written in the same BMS frame. We conclude in section 6 by summarizing the main results and discussing what in our opinion are the most interesting possible future developments.

**Note added.** At the final stages of this work, we became aware of the parallel work of the collaboration of Donato Bini, Thibault Damour, Stefano De Angelis, Andrea Geralico, Aidan Herderschee, Radu Roiban and Fei Teng who independently derived the full PM soft limit of the NLO waveform, including the first non-universal term,  $\omega \log \omega$ , and find agreement with our results [72]. They also derived the mismatch between the MPM and the amplitudes based results at 2.5PN order, reproducing exactly eq. (5.26) below.

### 2 From amplitudes to classical GR observables: the elastic case

We focus on minimally coupled massive scalars with a "large" (i.e. classical) mass so they can be used to model Schwarzschild black holes. In this setup, standard perturbation theory breaks down and Feynman diagrams involving only few gravitons do not provide a faithful description of the scattering between two black holes, see for instance [20] for a discussion in the framework of the eikonal approach. However, it is possible to rearrange the standard QFT perturbative expansion so as to extract from each order in the Newton constant<sup>2</sup> G

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>We shall also use the symbol  $\kappa = \sqrt{8\pi G}$ .

the contributions relevant to the classical Post-Minkowskian (PM) expansion and to make contact with GR observables. This step can be done in a variety of ways: by matching with an effective field theory [15, 73–76], in the KMOC approach [16, 25, 51, 77, 78] and by using the eikonal exponentiation (see [20] and references therein) among others. Focusing on the last two approaches, the idea is to define the incoming state by considering two well-separated objects described by a wave-packet superposition of plane-wave states,

$$\left| \mathrm{in} \right\rangle = \left| 1 \right\rangle \otimes \left| 2 \right\rangle, \tag{2.1}$$

with

$$|1\rangle = \int 2\pi \delta(p_1^2 + m_1^2) \theta(-p_1^0) \frac{d^D p_1}{(2\pi)^D} \varphi_1(-p_1) e^{ib_1 \cdot p_1} |-p_1\rangle \equiv \int_{-p_1} \varphi_1(-p_1) e^{ib_1 \cdot p_1} |-p_1\rangle$$

$$|2\rangle = \int 2\pi \delta(p_2^2 + m_2^2) \theta(-p_2^0) \frac{d^D p_2}{(2\pi)^D} \varphi_2(-p_2) e^{ib_2 \cdot p_2} |-p_2\rangle \equiv \int_{-p_2} \varphi_2(-p_2) e^{ib_2 \cdot p_2} |-p_2\rangle.$$
(2.2)

The classical value of an observable  $\mathcal{O}$  is obtained by calculating the leading order contribution in the classical limit to the expectation value

$$\langle \mathcal{O} \rangle \equiv \langle \text{out} | \mathcal{O} | \text{out} \rangle, \quad | \text{out} \rangle = S | \text{in} \rangle.$$
 (2.3)

It is convenient to formally write the final state in the plane wave basis and in the elastic case we have

$$|\text{out}\rangle = \int_{-p_1} \int_{-p_2} \int_{p_3} \int_{p_4} \varphi_1(-p_1)\varphi_2(-p_2) e^{i(b_1 \cdot p_1 + b_2 \cdot p_2)} |p_3, p_4\rangle \langle p_3, p_4|S| - p_1, -p_2\rangle + \cdots (2.4)$$

and one can evaluate the S-matrix with standard QFT methods. The KMOC approach exploits the fact that, for classical observables,<sup>3</sup> the expectation value (2.3) has finite classical limit order by order in the G-expansion. In order to make this manifest, it is convenient to introduce the following scaling for the momenta

$$p_1 \sim p_2 \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda^0), \qquad q_i \sim k \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda), \quad \text{as} \quad \lambda \to 0,$$
 (2.5)

where  $\lambda$  is proportional to  $\hbar$ , and so it is small,  $p_i$  are the external momenta of the black holes as in (2.2), while with  $q_i$  and k we will indicate the momenta of virtual and real gravitons respectively. For later convenience we introduce the notation below to indicate the behavior of an arbitrary quantity Q under the scaling (2.5)

$$\mathcal{Q}^{[-j]} \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-j})$$
. (2.6)

When computing (2.3) in the KMOC approach, we will need to extract at each order in G the first non-trivial contribution to the expectation value in the limit (2.5) and to rewrite it in terms of classical quantities (which can be done since all factors of  $\lambda$  or of  $\hbar$  should have canceled). Instead, in the eikonal approach one uses a classical approximation for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>When considers quantum observables, such as the average number of gravitons emitted during a scattering process, one would find results that diverge in the classical limit. Here, we will focus on classical observables, such as the deflection angle and the waveform.

the S-matrix in order to obtain an expression for the out-states and for the expectation values, see (2.3). This classical S-matrix arises by exponentiating the divergent terms as  $\hbar \to 0$ , which is done by working in impact parameter space. While at the LO in the PM expansion the results obtained in the two approaches can be compared directly, it turns out that at subleading order the eikonal impact parameter  $b_e$  is different from the one used in the KMOC approach which we indicate as  $b_J$ , to stress that it is directly related to the initial angular momentum J of the binary in the center of mass frame. In order to spell out this point, which will play an important role in the analysis of the waveform, let us first introduce our conventions on the kinematics (following closely [20]) starting first from the elastic scattering and then including radiation.

For the elastic tree-level  $2 \rightarrow 2$  amplitude we have,

$$\mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)}(p_{1},p_{2};q) = \bigcap_{p_{2}}^{p_{1}} \underbrace{\longrightarrow}_{p_{3}}^{p_{4}} = \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(\bar{p}_{1},\bar{p}_{2};q) + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{0}), \qquad (2.7)$$

with

$$q^{\mu} = p_{1}^{\mu} + p_{4}^{\mu} = -p_{2}^{\mu} - p_{3}^{\mu}, \quad \bar{p}_{1}^{\mu} = \frac{p_{4}^{\mu} - p_{1}^{\mu}}{2} = -p_{1}^{\mu} + \frac{q^{\mu}}{2}, \quad \bar{p}_{2}^{\mu} = \frac{p_{3}^{\mu} - p_{2}^{\mu}}{2} = -p_{2}^{\mu} - \frac{q^{\mu}}{2}, \quad (2.8)$$

where  $q \sim \hbar/b_e \sim \hbar/b_J$  is quantum and so it is also the difference between  $\bar{p}_{1,2}$  and  $-p_{1,2}$ .

#### 2.1 PM impulse

Let us now see how the classical impulse  $Q^{\mu}$  describing the total momentum exchanged in the process emerges in the KMOC approach. In order to do this we need to calculate the expectation value (2.3), for the observable representing the variation of the momentum of one of the massive states (i.e. the impulse). For instance, denoting by  $P_1^{\mu}$  the operator measuring the momentum of particle 1, we have

$$Q^{\mu} = \langle \operatorname{out} | P_1^{\mu} | \operatorname{out} \rangle - \langle \operatorname{in} | P_1^{\mu} | \operatorname{in} \rangle = Q_{1\text{PM}}^{\mu} + Q_{2\text{PM}}^{\mu} + \mathcal{O}(G^3) \,.$$
(2.9)

In order to write the results of the expectation values in terms of classical quantities we need to perform a Fourier transform to impact parameter space

$$\operatorname{FT}[\mathcal{O}] = \int \frac{d^D q}{(2\pi)^D} 2\pi \delta(2p_1 \cdot q) \, 2\pi \delta(2p_2 \cdot q) \, \mathcal{O}(q) \, e^{ib \cdot q} \,, \tag{2.10}$$

where  $\mathcal{O}$  is a generic observable. When the Fourier transform (2.10) is performed on a quantity whose leading behavior is classical, we can neglect the difference between  $p_i$  and  $\bar{p}_i$  and the shifts  $\pm q^2$  that would appear in the delta functions when writing the full on-shell conditions for the final states. These differences have an extra factor of  $\hbar$  and so they cannot change the leading classical term. However the interpretation of the impact parameter b appearing in (2.10) depends on how the classical quantity has been extracted from the amplitude, which in general contains terms which are more divergent than the classical ones as  $\hbar \to 0$ . When applying (2.10) to observables obtained in the KMOC approach, the impact parameter should be interpreted as  $b_J$ , i.e. the quantity directly related to the orbital angular momentum  $J = |\vec{p}|b_J$ . We review this point below in the simple example of the 2PM impulse [51]. Let us stress that  $b_J$  is the impact parameter appearing also at subleading PM orders whenever the subtraction leading to the classical result is done by using the full unitarity cuts [51, 79, 80].

Coming back to the impulse in the KMOC approach, we can compute perturbatively (2.9) by expanding S = 1 + iT and writing the matrix elements of T in terms of amplitudes. Then, at the first order in G, the expectation value gets contributions only from terms linear in T and so it can be written in terms of a tree-level amplitude, which we can approximate at the leading order in the regime (2.5). The operator  $P_1^{\mu}$  inserted in the expectation value yields either  $p_1$  or  $p_4$  for the terms linear in T and so we get

$$Q_{1\rm PM}^{\mu} = i \,\mathrm{FT}\left[(p_1 + p_4)^{\mu} \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]}\right] = i \,\mathrm{FT}\left[q^{\mu} \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]}\right],\tag{2.11a}$$

where, for minimally coupled massive scalars,

$$\mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(p_{1}, p_{2}; q) = \frac{32\pi G m_{1}^{2} m_{2}^{2} \left(\sigma^{2} - \frac{1}{D-2}\right)}{q^{2}}, \qquad (2.11b)$$

with

$$\sigma = -\frac{p_1 \cdot p_2}{m_1 m_2}, \qquad E = \sqrt{-(p_1 + p_2)^2} = \sqrt{m_1^2 + 2m_1 m_2 \sigma + m_2^2}. \tag{2.12}$$

By using (2.11) we have

$$Q_{1\rm PM}^{\mu} = -\frac{b_J^{\mu}}{b_J} \frac{4Gm_1m_2\left(\sigma^2 - \frac{1}{2}\right)}{b_J\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \,. \tag{2.13}$$

Notice that in order to restore length and mass units in the equation above, one does not need factors of  $\hbar$ : as advertised, expectation values of classical observables are independent of it. Thus we can interpret (2.13) as the classical result at order G, i.e. at leading order in the PM expansion.

The contributions coming from elastic diagrams involving more exchanged gravitons will yield subleading PM corrections. Let us discuss the 2PM correction in some detail as in the next section we will employ a similar approach to study the subleading contribution to the waveform. The second term in the PM expansion of the impulse,  $Q_{2PM}^{\mu}$ , contains two contributions [16, 51].<sup>4</sup> One comes from the terms linear in T in the expectation values (2.9) and is proportional to a scattering amplitude which now has to be evaluated at the second order in G, while the second one comes from the term quadratic in T where each factor is evaluated at order G,

$$Q_{2\rm PM}^{\mu} = i \,\mathrm{FT} \left[ p_4 \mathcal{A}_1^{(4)} + p_1 \mathcal{A}_1^{(4)*} - i \int (\ell - p_1) \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)}(p_1, p_2; \ell) \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)*}(p_3, p_4; q - \ell) dL(\ell) \right] \,, \quad (2.14)$$

where  $\mathcal{A}_1^{(4)}$  ( $\mathcal{A}_0^{(4)}$ ) is the elastic 4-point 1-loop (tree-level) amplitude and  $\int dL(\ell)$  indicates an integral over  $\ell$  where the cut propagators are on-shell

$$\int dL(\ell) = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} 2\pi \delta(2p_1 \cdot \ell - \ell^2) 2\pi \delta(2p_2 \cdot \ell + \ell^2) .$$
(2.15)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>A similar analysis has recently been discussed for the scattering of spinning particles [81].

It is convenient to rewrite this result in terms of the real and the imaginary part of  $\mathcal{A}_1^{(4)}$ . Thanks to unitarity  $-i(T - T^{\dagger}) = T^{\dagger}T$ , the imaginary part can be combined with the last term in (2.14) yielding

$$Q_{2\rm PM}^{\mu} = i \, {\rm FT} \left[ q^{\mu} \, {\rm Re} \, \mathcal{A}_1^{(4)[-1]} + i s^{\mu} \right], \qquad (2.16)$$

where

$$s^{\mu} = \int \left(\frac{p_4^{\mu} - p_1^{\mu}}{2} - (\ell^{\mu} - p_1^{\mu})\right) \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)}(p_1, p_2; \ell) \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)*}(p_3, p_4; q - \ell) dL(\ell) \,. \tag{2.17}$$

The contribution from  $\operatorname{Re} \mathcal{A}_1^{(4)}$  in (2.16) follows the same pattern we saw at tree level: its leading behavior in the regime (2.5) (which is  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1})$ ) ensures that the final contribution to the impulse is classical. Focusing again on GR for instance, we have

$$\operatorname{Re} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{(4)[-1]} = 2\pi G m_{1}^{2} m_{2}^{2} (m_{1} + m_{2}) \frac{3\pi (5\sigma^{2} - 1)}{q}, \qquad (2.18)$$

and thus

$$i \operatorname{FT}\left[q^{\mu} \operatorname{Re} \mathcal{A}_{1}^{(4)[-1]}\right] = -\frac{b_{J}^{\mu}}{b_{J}} \frac{3\pi G^{2} m_{1} m_{2} (m_{1} + m_{2}) (5\sigma^{2} - 1)}{4b_{J}^{2} \sqrt{\sigma^{2} - 1}} = -\frac{b_{J}^{\mu}}{b_{J}} Q_{2PM} \,. \tag{2.19}$$

As anticipated, the contribution above is classical since it has the dimension of a mass without the need of introducing  $\hbar$ . Instead, the term involving  $s^{\mu}$  in (2.16) naively seems to have contributions that scale as  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-2})$  by (2.17), where the two terms in the round parenthesis are separately  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$ . However, the leading term cancels and we obtain

$$\tilde{s}^{\mu} = \mathrm{FT}\left[\int \left(\frac{1}{2} q^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}\right) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)}(p_{1}, p_{2}; \ell) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)*}(p_{3}, p_{4}; q - \ell) dL(\ell)\right] .$$
(2.20)

Eq. (2.20) was evaluated explicitly in [51] by doing the integral over  $\ell$  first and then performing the Fourier transform. It is instructive to reproduce the same result by doing the two operations in the opposite order as this approach will be useful in the next section when discussing a similar cut contribution in the inelastic case. By using the variables  $\bar{p}_i$  (2.8), so as to exploit the simpler classical expansion in (2.7), we have

$$\tilde{s}^{\mu} = \operatorname{FT}\left[\int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \left(\frac{1}{2}q^{\mu} - \ell^{\mu}\right) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)}(p_{1}, p_{2}; \ell) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)*}(p_{3}, p_{4}; q - \ell) \times 2\pi\delta(2\bar{p}_{1} \cdot \ell + \ell \cdot (\ell - q))2\pi\delta(2\bar{p}_{2} \cdot \ell - \ell \cdot (\ell - q))\right].$$
(2.21)

At the first order in the classical limit (2.5) we can use (2.7) and approximate the delta functions by keeping only the linear terms in  $\bar{p}_i$ . However this contribution vanishes [16, 51], by using the delta functions and the fact that the integrand becomes odd in  $\ell \to q - \ell$  at this order. Thus the first non-trivial term follows from the expansion of the delta functions

$$\delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell + \ell \cdot (\ell - q))\delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell - \ell \cdot (\ell - q)) = \delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell)\delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell) + \ell \cdot (\ell - q) \left(\delta'(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell)\delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell) - \delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell)\delta'(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell)\right) + \cdots,$$

$$(2.22)$$

while, thanks to (2.7), there are no NLO contribution from the tree amplitude. Since the result is classical, we may now approximate  $\bar{p}_i^{\mu} \simeq -p_i^{\mu}$  (i = 1, 2), and by using the fact that  $\mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]}$  is real write

$$\tilde{s}^{\mu} = \operatorname{FT}\left[\int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \left(\ell^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}q^{\mu}\right) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(\ell) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(q-\ell) \times (2\pi)^{2}\ell(\ell-q) \left(\delta'(2p_{1}\cdot\ell)\delta(2p_{2}\cdot\ell) - \delta(2p_{1}\cdot\ell)\delta'(2p_{2}\cdot\ell)\right)\right]$$
(2.23)

up to quantum corrections. Let us introduce the following variables to indicate the velocities of the massive particles

$$p_1^{\mu} = -m_1 v_1^{\mu}, \qquad p_2^{\mu} = -m_2 v_2^{\mu}, \qquad \sigma = -v_1 \cdot v_2$$
 (2.24)

and the dual velocities

$$\check{v}_{1}^{\mu} = \frac{\sigma v_{2}^{\mu} - v_{1}^{\mu}}{\sigma^{2} - 1}, \qquad \check{v}_{2}^{\mu} = \frac{\sigma v_{1}^{\mu} - v_{2}^{\mu}}{\sigma^{2} - 1}, \qquad (2.25)$$

which satisfy  $\check{v}_i \cdot v_j = -\delta_{ij}$ , so that

$$\delta'(2p_1 \cdot \ell) = \frac{\check{v}_1^{\rho}}{2m_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial \ell^{\rho}} \delta(2p_1 \cdot \ell) , \qquad \delta'(2p_2 \cdot \ell) = \frac{\check{v}_2^{\rho}}{2m_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial \ell^{\rho}} \delta(2p_2 \cdot \ell) . \tag{2.26}$$

Using the above expressions to rewrite the delta functions appearing in (2.23), and integrating by parts, we can check that the only term giving a non-trivial  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$  contribution is obtained when the derivative acts on  $\ell^{\mu}$ . Thus we get

$$s^{\mu} = \left(\frac{\check{v}_{1}^{\mu}}{2m_{1}} - \frac{\check{v}_{2}^{\mu}}{2m_{2}}\right) \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(\ell) \,\ell \cdot (q-\ell) \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(q-\ell) \,2\pi\delta(2\bar{p}_{1}\cdot\ell) 2\pi\delta(2\bar{p}_{2}\cdot\ell) \tag{2.27}$$

Going to impact-parameter space, the convolution factorizes (see e.g. [20] for more details), and one is left with

$$\tilde{s}^{\mu} = -\left(\frac{\check{v}_{1}^{\mu}}{2m_{1}} - \frac{\check{v}_{2}^{\mu}}{2m_{2}}\right)Q_{1\mathrm{PM}}^{2}.$$
(2.28)

Inserting (2.19) and (2.28) in (2.16), we finally have

$$Q_{2\rm PM}^{\mu} = -\frac{b_J^{\mu}}{b_J} Q_{2\rm PM} + \left(\frac{\check{v}_1^{\mu}}{2m_1} - \frac{\check{v}_2^{\mu}}{2m_2}\right) Q_{1\rm PM}^2 \,. \tag{2.29}$$

The longitudinal terms in (2.29) are thus induced by the following transformation of the basis vectors,

$$m_1 v_1^{\mu} \mapsto \tilde{m}_1 \tilde{u}_1^{\mu} = \tilde{p}_1^{\mu} = -p_1^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} Q^{\mu}, \qquad m_2 v_2^{\mu} \mapsto \tilde{m}_2 \tilde{u}_2^{\mu} = \tilde{p}_2^{\mu} = -p_2^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} Q^{\mu}, \qquad (2.30)$$

and

$$b_J^{\mu} \mapsto b_e^{\mu} = b_J^{\mu} - \left(\frac{\check{v}_1^{\mu}}{2m_1} - \frac{\check{v}_2^{\mu}}{2m_2}\right) Q \, b_J \,,$$
 (2.31)

where  $\tilde{p}_{1,2}$  and  $b_e^{\mu}$  are defined in such a way that, while  $p_{1,2} \cdot b_J = 0$ ,

$$\tilde{p}_{1,2} \cdot b_e = 0. (2.32)$$

Notice that the momenta  $\tilde{p}_i$  and  $-p_i$  differ by a classical quantity in contrast to what happens with the variables  $\bar{p}_i$  defined in (2.8). In analogy to what was done in (2.24) and (2.25), we introduce for later convenient also the velocities  $u_i$ 

$$\bar{p}_1^{\mu} = -\bar{m}_1 u_1^{\mu}, \qquad \bar{p}_2^{\mu} = -\bar{m}_2 u_2^{\mu}, \qquad y = -u_1 \cdot u_2$$
(2.33)

and the dual velocities

$$\check{u}_{1}^{\mu} = \frac{yu_{2}^{\mu} - u_{1}^{\mu}}{y^{2} - 1}, \qquad \check{u}_{2}^{\mu} = \frac{yu_{1}^{\mu} - u_{2}^{\mu}}{y^{2} - 1}, \qquad (2.34)$$

which satisfy  $\check{u}_i \cdot u_j = -\delta_{ij}$ . Coming back to the impulse the difference between the norms  $b_e$  and  $b_J$  is of order  $G^2$  (and similarly between  $m_i$  and  $\tilde{m}_i$ ). Thus, at 2PM order one can regard the transformation of  $b_J^{\mu}$  as a rotation and by using (2.31) in (2.29) we have

$$Q^{\mu} = -\frac{b_e^{\mu}}{b_e} \left( Q_{1\text{PM}} + Q_{2\text{PM}} \right) + \mathcal{O}(G^3) \,. \tag{2.35}$$

The infinitesimal action of (2.30), (2.31) can be written as follows,

$$\bar{\delta}Q^{\mu} = Q_{1\text{PM}}\,\bar{\partial}Q^{\mu} + \mathcal{O}(G^3)\,,\tag{2.36}$$

where

$$\bar{\partial} = -\frac{b_J^{\alpha}}{b_J} \left( \frac{1}{2m_1} \frac{\partial}{\partial v_1^{\alpha}} - \frac{1}{2m_2} \frac{\partial}{\partial v_2^{\alpha}} \right) - b_J \left( \frac{\check{v}_1^{\alpha}}{2m_1} - \frac{\check{v}_2^{\alpha}}{2m_2} \right) \frac{\partial}{\partial b_J^{\alpha}}, \qquad (2.37)$$

is a differential operator that preserves the constraints  $v_{1,2} \cdot b_J = 0$ . So we can write the longitudinal contribution as follows

$$-\tilde{s}^{\mu} = \bar{\delta}Q^{\mu} = Q_{1\text{PM}}\bar{\partial}Q^{\mu} \,. \tag{2.38}$$

It is instructive to explicitly check that acting with  $\bar{\partial}$  as in (2.36) indeed reproduces the longitudinal terms in (2.28) both when using the explicit 1PM expression (2.13), where only the  $\partial/\partial b_J^{\alpha}$  part of  $\bar{\partial}$  acts non-trivially, and when using the integral expression (2.11a), where instead only the  $\partial/\partial v_1^{\alpha}$ ,  $\partial/\partial v_2^{\alpha}$  terms act non-trivially. This interplay is due to the fact that only the sum of the two terms in (2.37) is a well-defined differential operator on the constrained surface  $v_{1,2} \cdot b_J = 0$ , whereas the two terms are separately ambiguous.

Let us conclude this section with a brief comparison between the KMOC and the eikonal approach. The basic idea of the latter is to first obtain a classical approximation for the out-state by resumming the leading contributions in the classical limit into an exponential form. In the elastic approximation, we expect

$$|\text{out}\rangle = [1 + i\Delta(E, b_e)] e^{2i\delta(E, b_e)} |\text{in}\rangle, \qquad (2.39)$$

where  $\Delta$  captures quantum effects while the classical part, scaling as  $1/\hbar$ , exponentiates. The quantities appearing on the r.h.s. can be determined by performing a formal expansion in G

on the S-matrix elements  $\langle in|out \rangle$  and matching the result with perturbative calculations, see [20] and references therein. This allows to determine the eikonal phase  $\delta(E, b_e)$  in a PM expansion and, for instance, in the case of GR we have at leading and subleading order

$$2\delta_0 = \tilde{\mathcal{A}}_0^{(2)[-2]} = \frac{2Gm_1m_2(\sigma^2 - \frac{1}{D-2})}{\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}} \frac{\Gamma(-\epsilon)}{(\pi b_e^2)^{-\epsilon}}, \qquad 2\delta_1 = \frac{3\pi G^2m_1m_2(m_1 + m_2)(5\sigma^2 - 1)}{4b_e\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}}.$$
(2.40)

Let us stress that even the leading contribution captures (after exponentiation) an infinite number of ladder and cross-ladder diagrams,

 $1 + i \operatorname{FT} = e^{2i\delta_0}. \qquad (2.41)$ 

Since the matching in (2.39) is performed on a result with terms that are more divergent than the classical ones, one has to be careful about subleading quantum corrections. The subtraction implied by this procedure requires to interpret the impact parameter appearing in the equation in a different way from the one used in the KMOC approach. A first signal of this can be seen by rewriting the eikonal S-matrix in momentum space: the Fourier transform can be performed via a stationary phase argument (and similarly for the transformation from the energy to the time domain) leading to the impulse and (IR-divergent) Shapiro time delay

$$Q^{\mu} = \frac{\partial 2\delta}{\partial (b_e)_{\mu}}, \qquad T = \frac{\partial 2\delta}{\partial E} = \frac{E}{m_1 m_2} \frac{\partial 2\delta}{\partial \sigma}.$$
(2.42)

Because of the kinematic constraint  $Q = 2|\vec{p}|\sin(\Theta/2)$  between the impulse and the elastic scattering angle  $\Theta$ , there is in general a non-linear relation between the angle and  $\partial_{b_e}(2\delta)$ contrary to what happens when one takes the derivative of the radial action with respect to  $b_J$ . By using (2.40) and (2.42) one then directly obtains (2.35) for GR, with  $Q^{\mu}$  written in terms of  $b_e^{\mu}$  [20], and, to leading order,

$$T_{1\rm PM} = 2GE \, \frac{\sigma \left(\sigma^2 - \frac{3-4\epsilon}{2-2\epsilon}\right)}{(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}} \frac{\Gamma(-\epsilon)}{(\pi b_{\epsilon}^2)^{-\epsilon}} \,. \tag{2.43}$$

### 3 From amplitudes to the PM waveform

Let us now proceed to study another classical observable, the expectation value of the canonically quantized graviton field in the final state:

$$\langle H_{\mu\nu}(x)\rangle = \langle \text{out} | \int_{k} \left[ e^{ik \cdot x} a_{\mu\nu}(k) + e^{-ik \cdot x} a_{\mu\nu}^{\dagger}(k) \right] |\text{out}\rangle, \qquad (3.1)$$

where, as before, the out-state is dictated by the S-matrix as in (2.3). However, compared to (2.4) we now need to also include the first inelastic contribution with one graviton of momentum  $k^{\mu}$  in the final state,

$$|\text{out}\rangle = \int_{-p_1} \int_{-p_2} \int_{p_3} \int_{p_4} \varphi_1(-p_1)\varphi_2(-p_2)e^{i(b_1 \cdot p_1 + b_2 \cdot p_2)} \times \left[ |p_3, p_4\rangle \langle p_3, p_4|S| - p_1, -p_2\rangle + \int_k |p_3, p_4, k\rangle \langle p_3, p_4, k|S| - p_1, -p_2\rangle + \cdots \right].$$
(3.2)

The metric fluctuation sourced by the scattering,

$$g_{\mu\nu}(x) - \eta_{\mu\nu} = 2\sqrt{8\pi G} \langle H_{\mu\nu}(x) \rangle = h_{\mu\nu}(x) ,$$
 (3.3)

is determined by the so-called wave-shape W [16, 54, 82],

$$\langle \text{out}|a_{\mu\nu}(k)|\text{out}\rangle = i \operatorname{FT}[W_{\mu\nu}(k)] \equiv i \tilde{W}_{\mu\nu},$$
(3.4)

where the generalization of the Fourier transform (2.10) reads

$$\operatorname{FT}[f] = \int \frac{d^{D}q_{1}}{(2\pi)^{D}} \frac{d^{D}q_{2}}{(2\pi)^{D}} (2\pi)^{D} \delta^{(D)}(q_{1}+q_{2}+k) 2\pi\delta(2p_{1}\cdot q_{1}) 2\pi\delta(2p_{2}\cdot q_{2}) e^{ib_{1}\cdot q_{1}+ib_{2}\cdot q_{2}} f(q_{1},q_{2},k).$$
(3.5)

In the rest of the paper, we shall employ the following notation for the 5-point kinematics. We denote

$$\omega_1 = -v_1 \cdot k \,, \qquad \omega_2 = -v_2 \cdot k \,, \tag{3.6}$$

so that  $\omega_i$  with i = 1, 2 are the frequencies of the emitted graviton in the rest frame of the first or the second massive particle, and

$$q_1^{\mu} = p_1^{\mu} + p_4^{\mu}, \qquad q_2^{\mu} = p_2^{\mu} + p_3^{\mu}, \qquad q_1^{\mu} + q_2^{\mu} + k^{\mu} = 0,$$
 (3.7)

so that

$$\bar{p}_1^{\mu} = -p_1^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} q_1^{\mu}, \qquad \bar{p}_2^{\mu} = -p_2^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} q_2^{\mu}$$
(3.8)

obey  $\bar{p}_1 \cdot q_1 = 0$ ,  $\bar{p}_2 \cdot q_2 = 0$ . Note that (3.8) reduces to (2.8) in the elastic case  $k^{\mu} = 0$ ,  $q_1^{\mu} = q^{\mu} = -q_2^{\mu}$ .

Let us also recall the following useful identities

$$m_1\omega_1 + m_2\omega_2 = E\omega, \qquad E|\vec{p}| = m_1m_2\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1},$$
(3.9)

where E,  $\vec{p}$  and  $\omega$  are, respectively, the total energy, the massive particle's spatial momentum and the graviton's frequency in the center of mass frame.  $\tilde{W}_{\mu\nu}$  in eq. (3.4) is the fundamental object entering (3.1). From it one can derive the asymptotic limit of the metric at the future null infinity and, in D = 4, we have

$$\langle H_{\mu\nu}(x)\rangle \sim \frac{1}{4\pi r} \int_0^\infty \left[ e^{-i\omega U} \tilde{W}_{\mu\nu}(\omega n) + e^{i\omega U} \tilde{W}^*_{\mu\nu}(\omega n) \right] \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} \,. \tag{3.10}$$

Here  $n^{\mu} = k^{\mu}/\omega$  is a null vector such that  $-n \cdot t = -1$  where  $t^{\mu}$  is the four-velocity of the detector, while r is the radial distance of the detector from the source and U is the retarded time. The dimensionless metric fluctuation in the asymptotic limit is thus given by

$$h_{\mu\nu}(x) \sim \frac{4G}{r} \int_0^\infty e^{-i\omega U} \frac{\tilde{W}_{\mu\nu}(\omega n)}{\sqrt{8\pi G}} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} + (\text{c.c.}), \qquad (3.11)$$

where "c.c." stands for complex conjugate.

The leading contribution to (3.4) is of order  $G^{3/2}$ : it is obtained by using the second line of (3.2) to rewrite the bra-vector in (3.4), focusing on T in S = 1 + iT and on 1 in  $S^{\dagger}$ . This is given by a tree-level amplitude, so we have

$$\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu} = \mathrm{FT}[\mathcal{A}_0^{\mu\nu}], \qquad (3.12)$$

where  $\mathcal{A}_0^{\mu\nu}$  is now the amplitude with an extra graviton in the final state with respect to the elastic case discussed in the previous section. For our purposes it is useful to notice that it enjoys a classical expansion similar to the elastic amplitude (2.7)

with no corrections scaling as  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1})$ . The explicit result for  $\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu}$  was already discussed long ago in [36] and has more recently been rederived and simplified in [37, 38] (see also [52, 83–87] for generalizations which include spin or tidal effects).

It was pointed out in [1] that at subleading PM order a naive generalization of (3.12), where the classical part of the 5-point 1-loop amplitude is used on the r.h.s., is not correct, in the sense that this is not the result that follows from the KMOC prescription (3.1). We are still going to present the calculation as done historically, by first focusing on the 5-point 1-loop amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_1^{\mu\nu}$ , as done in [45–48], and then analyze separately the new contribution needed to reconstruct the NLO PM waveform.

#### 3.1 The 5-point 1-loop amplitude

The one-loop amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_1^{\mu\nu}$ , describing the scattering of the massive states with a graviton in the final state, has a real part  $\operatorname{Re} \mathcal{A}_1^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{B}_1^{\mu\nu}$  as well as an imaginary part dictated by its unitarity cuts. We will indicate these contributions as follows

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{B}_{1}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2}(s^{\mu\nu} + s'^{\mu\nu}) + \frac{i}{2}(c_{1}^{\mu\nu} + c_{2}^{\mu\nu})$$
(3.14)

where the contributions related to the cuts are

$$s = \tag{3.15}$$

and

$$c_1 = \underbrace{\qquad} \qquad c_2 = \underbrace{\qquad} \qquad (3.16)$$

and they all possess an infrared (IR) divergent contribution. Instead the "irreducible" part  $\mathcal{B}_1^{\mu\nu}$  is real and finite.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>As discussed in [45–48], IR divergences also appear in the real part [58] but only in quantum terms.

In the regime (2.5), the classical contribution scales as  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1})$  and we have

$$\frac{i}{2}(s^{\mu\nu} + s'^{\mu\nu}) \sim is_{+}^{[-2]\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{0}), \qquad (3.17)$$

while

$$\frac{i}{2} c_{1,2}^{\mu\nu} \sim \frac{i}{2} c_{1,2}^{[-1]\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1}), \qquad (3.18)$$

$$\mathcal{B}_1^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{B}_1^{[-1]\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1}).$$
(3.19)

Due to the absence of classical  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1})$  terms in (3.17), the leading order of the amplitude is given by the sum of the S-channel cuts and should disappear in classical observables, while its classical part is given by the real part and by the C-channel cuts (3.20)

$$\mathcal{A}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \sim is_{+}^{[-2]\mu\nu} + \left[\mathcal{B}_{1}^{[-1]\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2}\left(c_{1}^{[-1]\mu\nu} + c_{2}^{[-1]\mu\nu}\right)\right] + \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{0}).$$
(3.20)

The rest of this section is devoted to a closer analysis of the various building blocks of the amplitude. Starting from  $\mathcal{B}_1^{\mu\nu}$ , we recall that it can be further broken down as follows

$$\mathcal{B}_{1}^{\mu\nu} = \mathcal{B}_{1O}^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{B}_{1E}^{\mu\nu}, \qquad (3.21)$$

where

$$\mathcal{B}_{1O}^{\mu\nu} = \left[1 - \frac{\sigma(\sigma^2 - \frac{3}{2})}{(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}}\right] \pi GE\omega \,\mathcal{A}_0^{\mu\nu} \tag{3.22}$$

is odd under  $\omega_1 \mapsto -\omega_1, \, \omega_2 \mapsto -\omega_2, \, \omega \mapsto -\omega$ , while  $\mathcal{B}_{1E}^{\mu\nu}$  is even under this transformation. The even part takes the following form,

$$\varepsilon_{\mu}\mathcal{B}_{1E}^{\mu\nu}\varepsilon_{\nu} = \frac{A_{1}^{R}}{\sqrt{q_{1}^{2} + \omega_{2}^{2}}} + \frac{A_{2}^{R}}{\sqrt{q_{2}^{2} + \omega_{1}^{2}}} + \frac{A_{3}^{R}}{\sqrt{q_{1}^{2}}} + \frac{A_{4}^{R}}{\sqrt{q_{2}^{2}}}$$
(3.23)

where  $A_i^R$  are rational functions of  $q_1^2$ ,  $q_2^2$ ,  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$  and  $\sigma$ , bilinear in  $\varepsilon \cdot q_2$ ,  $\varepsilon \cdot u_1$ ,  $\varepsilon \cdot u_2$ , which are provided in the ancillary files of [46].

Let us turn to the C-channel contribution to the waveform kernel [45-48]. For these cuts the infrared divergence is associated to a running logarithm depending on the frequency, hallmark of the tail effect, and can be cast in the form,

$$\frac{i}{2}(c_1^{\mu\nu} + c_2^{\mu\nu}) = iGE\omega \left[ -\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log \frac{\omega_1 \omega_2}{\mu_{\rm IR}^2} \right] \mathcal{A}_0^{\mu\nu} + i\mathcal{M}_1^{\mu\nu}$$
(3.24)

where  $\mathcal{M}_{1}^{\mu\nu}$  is IR finite. We follow in particular the splitting adopted in ([46], eq. (7.2)) so that  $\mathcal{M}_{1}^{\mu\nu}$  is given as follows,

$$\varepsilon_{\mu} \mathcal{M}_{1}^{\mu\nu} \varepsilon_{\nu} = A_{\text{rat}}^{I} + A_{1}^{I} \frac{\operatorname{arcsinh} \frac{\omega_{2}}{\sqrt{q_{1}^{2}}}}{\sqrt{q_{1}^{2} + \omega_{2}^{2}}} + A_{2}^{I} \frac{\operatorname{arcsinh} \frac{\omega_{1}}{\sqrt{q_{2}^{2}}}}{\sqrt{q_{2}^{2} + \omega_{1}^{2}}} + A_{3}^{I} \log \frac{q_{1}^{2}}{q_{2}^{2}} + A_{4}^{I} \log \frac{\omega_{1}}{\omega_{2}} + A_{5}^{I} \frac{\operatorname{arccosh} \sigma}{(\sigma^{2} - 1)^{3/2}}.$$
(3.25)

 $A_i^I$  are again rational functions of  $q_1^2$ ,  $q_2^2$ ,  $\omega_1$ ,  $\omega_2$  and  $\sigma$ , bilinear in  $\varepsilon \cdot q_2$ ,  $\varepsilon \cdot u_1$ ,  $\varepsilon \cdot u_2$  and are also provided in the ancillary files of [46].

For later convenience let us evaluate the divergent part of  $c_1^{\mu\nu}$ . This comes from the region where the momentum of the graviton in the Compton sub-diagram (the right blob) is the smallest energy scale in the problem. In this regime we can approximate the explicit expression for this contribution

$$c_{1\mu\nu} = \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} 2\pi\delta(2\bar{p}_{1}\cdot\ell) 2\pi\delta((k+\ell)^{2}) \Theta(-k^{0}-\ell^{0}) \\ \times \mathcal{A}_{0}^{[-2]\rho\sigma}(\bar{p}_{1},\bar{p}_{2};q_{1}-\ell,q_{2}) \left(\delta_{\rho}^{\alpha}\delta_{\sigma}^{\beta}-\frac{1}{D-2}\eta_{\rho\sigma}\eta^{\alpha\beta}\right) \mathcal{A}_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}^{(C)[-2]}(p_{1},-\ell-k;\ell),$$
(3.26)

by using the GR contribution<sup>6</sup>

$$A_{\alpha\beta,\mu\nu}^{(C)[-2]}(p_1, -\ell - k; \ell) = 4\kappa^2 \frac{(p_1 \cdot k)^2}{\ell^2} \left(\eta^{\alpha\mu} - \frac{p_1^{(\alpha}k^{\mu)}}{p_1 \cdot k}\right) \left(\eta^{\beta\nu} - \frac{p_1^{(\beta}k^{\nu)}}{p_1 \cdot k}\right) + \mathcal{O}(\ell)$$
(3.27)

and by placing a very small cutoff  $\Lambda$  on  $|\ell|$ , so that we may effectively set  $\ell = 0$  in  $\mathcal{A}_0^{[-2]\rho\sigma}$ . Proceeding in this way, and contracting with physical polarizations  $\varepsilon \cdot k = 0$ ,  $\varepsilon \cdot \varepsilon = 0$ , we get

$$c_{1\mu\nu}^{\text{div}}\varepsilon^{\mu}\varepsilon^{\nu} = 4\kappa^{2}\mathcal{A}_{0}^{[-2]\rho\sigma}(\bar{p}_{1},\bar{p}_{2};q_{1},q_{2})\varepsilon_{\rho}\varepsilon_{\sigma}\int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}}\,2\pi\delta(2p_{1}\cdot\ell)\,2\pi\delta(2k\cdot\ell)\Theta(\Lambda^{2}-\ell^{2})\,\frac{(m_{1}\omega_{1})^{2}}{\ell^{2}}\,.$$
(3.28)

Using

$$\int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} \frac{1}{\ell^2} 2\pi \delta(2p_1 \cdot \ell) 2\pi \delta(2k \cdot \ell) \Theta(\Lambda^2 - \ell^2) = \frac{1}{8\pi m_1 \omega_1} \left[ -\frac{1}{2\epsilon} + \log \Lambda \right], \quad (3.29)$$

we obtain

$$(c_{1\mu\nu} + c_{2\mu\nu})^{\text{div}} = 2GE\omega \,\mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]}(\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2; q_1, q_2) \,\left[-\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log(\Lambda^2)\right]$$
(3.30)

in agreement with the literature [1, 45, 46, 48] (and with (3.24)).

#### 3.2 The NLO PM waveform

Evaluating at the subleading order (3.4) shows that in order to derive the NLO waveform the 1-loop amplitude discussed above it is not sufficient to drop the divergent term (3.17). Instead one should subtract the cut  $s'^{\mu\nu}$  [1], which yields

$$\tilde{W}_{1}^{\mu\nu} = \operatorname{FT}\left[\mathcal{A}_{1}^{\mu\nu} - is'^{\mu\nu}\right] = \operatorname{FT}\left[\mathcal{B}_{1}^{[-1]\mu\nu} + is_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2}\left(c_{1}^{[-1]\mu\nu} + c_{2}^{[-1]\mu\nu}\right)\right],\tag{3.31}$$

where we define  $s_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu}$  by

$$\frac{i}{2}(s^{\mu\nu} - s'^{\mu\nu}) \sim i \, s_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu} \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1}) \,. \tag{3.32}$$

<sup>6</sup>As seen, for instance, by taking the  $q_1 + q_2 \rightarrow 0$  limit of eq. (4.36) in [20].

In this section we focus on this new contribution  $s_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu}$  that was not taken into account in [45, 46, 48].

Two approaches are possible. One is to compute  $s_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu}$  in momentum space by using the explicit expression for the tree-level 4-point and 5-point amplitudes, and then by performing the loop integration, following the same approach used for the amplitude [45, 46, 48]. We refer to [55, 56] and v4 of [45, 46] for this calculation. Here, instead, we follow an alternative approach inspired by the eikonal exponentiation, which allows us to provide a compact relativistic expression for  $\tilde{s}_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu}$  directly in impact-parameter space. The idea is simple: instead of first performing the loop integrals and then the Fourier transform (2.10) to *b*-space, we rewrite the contribution to the cut as a product of *tree-level* building blocks in impact parameter space, very much as it was done starting from (2.17) for the cut in the elastic 1-loop amplitude. This approach has the further advantage of eliminating all analytic (in  $q_1 - q_2$ ) contributions that translate to short-range terms in *b*-space and are thus irrelevant in the PM expansion, but that make the momentum space expression  $s_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu}$  more complicated.

We begin from the explicit expressions for the cuts s and s' in terms of the momentum space tree-level ingredients. With an accuracy up to and including the classical  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-1})$  order, we have

$$s_{\mu\nu} = \underbrace{\int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell + \ell \cdot (\ell - q_1)) 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell - \ell \cdot (\ell + q_2))}_{\times \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]} \left(\bar{p}_1 + \frac{1}{2}(\ell - q_1), \bar{p}_2 - \frac{1}{2}(\ell + q_2); \ell\right) \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]} \left(\bar{p}_1 + \frac{\ell}{2}, \bar{p}_2 - \frac{\ell}{2}; q_1 - \ell, q_2 + \ell\right)}$$
(3.33)

and

$$s'_{\mu\nu} = \underbrace{\int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^D} 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell - \ell \cdot (\ell - q_1)) 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell + \ell \cdot (\ell + q_2))}_{\times \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]} \left(\bar{p}_1 - \frac{\ell}{2}, \bar{p}_2 + \frac{\ell}{2}; q_1 - \ell, q_2 + \ell\right) \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]} \left(\bar{p}_1 - \frac{1}{2}(\ell - q_1), \bar{p}_2 + \frac{1}{2}(\ell + q_2); \ell\right).$$
(3.34)

In the sum, we see that all first-order expansions of  $\mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]}$ ,  $\mathcal{A}_0^{[-2]}$  and of the delta functions in the soft region  $\ell \sim q_1 \sim q_2 \sim \mathcal{O}(\lambda)$  cancel out and one is left just with the leading  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^{-2})$  contribution

$$\frac{s_{\mu\nu} + s'_{\mu\nu}}{2} = \int \frac{d^D \ell}{(2\pi)^{D-2}} \,\delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot \ell) \,\delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot \ell) \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]}\left(\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2; \ell\right) \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]}\left(\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2; q_1 - \ell, q_2 + \ell\right) \,(3.35)$$

up to  $\mathcal{O}(\lambda^0)$  corrections, in agreement with [1, 48]. Vice versa, in the difference they add up. As done in the elastic case we use (2.26) and integrate by parts the result of the expansion in order to rewrite the contribution without using derivatives of delta function. Since we are focusing on a quantity whose leading term is classical, we can just neglect all subleading quantum corrections, obtaining

$$\frac{i}{2} \left( s_{\mu\nu}^{[-1]} - s_{\mu\nu}^{'[-1]} \right) =$$
(3.36)
$$i \int \frac{d^{D}\ell}{(2\pi)^{D}} 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_{1} \cdot \ell) 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_{2} \cdot \ell) \\
\times \left\{ \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]}(\bar{p}_{1}, \bar{p}_{2}; q_{1} - \ell, q_{2} + \ell) \frac{E\omega}{2m_{1}m_{2}} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial\sigma} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^{2} - 1} \right] \mathcal{A}_{0}^{(4)[-2]}(\sigma; \ell^{2}) + \mathcal{A}^{(4)[-2]}(\sigma; \ell^{2}) \\
\times \left[ \frac{\ell^{2} - \ell \cdot q_{1}}{2m_{1}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\ell_{\parallel 1}} - \frac{\ell^{2} + \ell \cdot q_{2}}{2m_{2}} \frac{\partial}{\partial\ell_{\parallel 2}} + \frac{\ell^{\alpha}}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{p}_{1}^{\alpha}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial\bar{p}_{2}^{\alpha}} \right) \right] \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]}(\bar{p}_{1}, \bar{p}_{2}; q_{1} - \ell, q_{2} + \ell) \right\},$$

where we have defined  $\ell^{\mu} = \ell_{\parallel 1} \check{u}_{1}^{\mu} + \ell_{\parallel 2} \check{u}_{2}^{\mu} + \ell_{\perp}^{\mu}$  and

$$\mathcal{A}^{(4)[-2]}(\bar{p}_1, \bar{p}_2; \ell) \simeq \mathcal{A}^{(4)[-2]}(p_1, p_2; \ell) = \mathcal{A}^{(4)[-2]}(\sigma; \ell^2) \,. \tag{3.37}$$

Note that the differential operator in the square parenthesis in the last line of (3.36) preserves the mass-shell constraints  $\bar{p}_1 \cdot (q_1 - \ell) = 0$  and  $\bar{p}_2 \cdot (q_2 + \ell) = 0$ . One can evaluate the first term of the curly parenthesis in (3.36) by using the elastic  $2 \rightarrow 2$  amplitude (2.11b), obtaining

$$\frac{1}{2m_1m_2} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial\sigma} - \frac{\sigma}{\sigma^2 - 1} \right] \mathcal{A}_0^{(4)[-2]}(\sigma;\ell^2) = \frac{16\pi G m_1 m_2}{\ell^2} \frac{\sigma \left(\sigma^2 - \frac{3-4\epsilon}{2-2\epsilon}\right)}{\sigma^2 - 1} \,. \tag{3.38}$$

We now take the Fourier transform as we did in (2.10) for the elastic amplitude. In the case at hand we solve  $q_1 + q_2 + k = 0$  in (3.7) by eliminating  $q_2$  and define the Fourier transform with respect to  $q_1$ 

$$\operatorname{FT}_{q_1}^{(k)}[f(q_1, q_2, k)] = e^{-ib_2 \cdot k} \int \frac{d^D q_1}{(2\pi)^D} 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_1 \cdot q_1) \, 2\pi \delta(2\bar{p}_2 \cdot (q_1 + k)) \, e^{ib \cdot q_1} f(q_1, -q_1 - k, k) \,.$$
(3.39)

We proceed by considering separately the two terms in (3.36), writing

$$i \tilde{s}_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu} = \tilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu} + \tilde{\mathcal{F}}^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (3.40)

The  $\mathcal{D}$ -term factorizes straightforwardly as follows

$$\tilde{\mathcal{D}}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{i}{2} \,\omega \, T_{1\text{PM}} \,\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu}(p_1, p_2; b_J; k) \tag{3.41}$$

in terms of the tree-level waveform  $\tilde{W}_0$  and of the IR-divergent Shapiro time delay (2.43). As in the elastic case, the classical results obtained by following the KMOC prescription are written in the frame aligned with  $p_i$  and  $b_J$ . The  $\mathcal{F}$ -term can be instead cast in the form

$$\tilde{\mathcal{F}}_{\mu\nu} = Q_{1\mathrm{PM}}^{\alpha} \left[ \frac{\check{u}_{1}^{\beta}}{2m_{1}} \left( -i\frac{\partial}{\partial b_{J}^{\alpha}} \right) + \frac{\check{u}_{2}^{\beta}}{2m_{2}} \left( -i\frac{\partial}{\partial b_{J}^{\alpha}} + k_{\alpha} \right) \right] \mathrm{FT}_{\ell}^{(k)} \left[ \frac{\partial}{\partial \ell^{\beta}} \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]}(\bar{p}_{1}, \bar{p}_{2}; \ell; k) \right] 
+ Q_{1\mathrm{PM}}^{\alpha} \mathrm{FT}_{\ell}^{(k)} \left[ \frac{1}{2} \left( \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{p}_{1}^{\alpha}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial \bar{p}_{2}^{\alpha}} \right) \mathcal{A}_{0\mu\nu}^{[-2]}(\bar{p}_{1}, \bar{p}_{2}; \ell; k) \right],$$
(3.42)

where we used the 1PM impulse (2.43). In the following, we restrict to the center-of-mass translations frames,

$$b_1^{\alpha} = \frac{E_2}{E} b_J^{\alpha}, \qquad b_2^{\alpha} = -\frac{E_1}{E} b_J^{\alpha}, \qquad (3.43)$$

where

$$\frac{E_1}{E} = \frac{m_1(m_1 + m_2\sigma)}{m_1^2 + 2m_1m_2\sigma + m_2^2}, \qquad \frac{E_2}{E} = \frac{m_2(m_2 + m_1\sigma)}{m_1^2 + 2m_1m_2\sigma + m_2^2}.$$
 (3.44)

Following the example of the impulse kernel discussed in the previous section, let us compare the  $\mathcal{F}$ -term in (3.42) with the transformation of the leading waveform,

$$\bar{\delta}\tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu} = \tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu}(\tilde{p}_{1}, \tilde{p}_{2}; b_{e}; k) - \tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu}(-p_{1}, -p_{2}; b_{J}; k), \qquad (3.45)$$

with  $\bar{p}_1$ ,  $\bar{p}_2$  and  $b_e$  as in (2.30) and (2.31). To leading PM order, the transformation (3.45) is given by Taylor expanding the waveform, which leads us to

$$\bar{\delta}\tilde{W}^{\mu\nu} = Q_{1\text{PM}}\,\bar{\partial}\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu}(m_1v_1, m_2v_2; b_J; k) + \mathcal{O}(G^{7/2}) \tag{3.46}$$

with  $\bar{\partial}$  as in (2.37). Letting  $\bar{\partial}$  act on the leading-order waveform expressed as the Fourier transform (3.39) of the tree-level amplitude  $\mathcal{A}_0^{[-2]}$  we obtain

$$\bar{\delta}\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu} = \tilde{\mathcal{F}} - \frac{i}{2}\,\omega b_e\,Q_{1\text{PM}}\,\frac{E_1E_2}{Ep^2}\,\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu}\,,\tag{3.47}$$

where we write  $b_e$  at the place of  $b_J$  when the difference is immaterial for our purposes and

$$E = \sqrt{m_1^2 + 2m_1m_2\sigma + m_2^2}, \qquad Ep = m_1m_2\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}.$$
(3.48)

Combining (3.47), from which we read off the  $\mathcal{F}$ -term, with the expression for the  $\mathcal{D}$ -term in (3.41), we finally obtain

$$i\,\tilde{s}_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu} = \bar{\delta}\tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu} + \frac{i}{2}\,\omega\left(T_{1\rm PM} + b_e\,Q_{1\rm PM}\,\frac{E_1E_2}{Ep^2}\right)\tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu}\,.$$
(3.49)

By using the GR expressions for  $T_{1PM}$  and  $Q_{1PM}$  (2.43), we have the explicit expression

$$i \tilde{s}_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu} =$$

$$\begin{bmatrix} -(-2 & 3-4\epsilon) \\ -(-2 & -2-4\epsilon) \end{bmatrix}$$
(3.50)

$$\bar{\delta}\tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu} + iG\mu_{\mathrm{IR}}^{2\epsilon}E\omega \left[\frac{\sigma\left(\sigma^{2} - \frac{3-4\epsilon}{2-2\epsilon}\right)}{(\sigma^{2} - 1)^{3/2}}\frac{\Gamma(-\epsilon)}{(\pi b_{e}^{2})^{-\epsilon}} + \frac{(m_{1} + m_{2}\sigma)(m_{2} + m_{1}\sigma)}{m_{1}^{2} + 2m_{1}m_{2}\sigma + m_{2}^{2}}\frac{2\sigma^{2} - 1}{(\sigma^{2} - 1)^{3/2}}\right]\tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu}.$$

The first line of eq. (3.50) thus embodies the mechanism showcased by eq. (2.38) for the case of the elastic impulse. KMOC subtractions of unitarity cuts with two intermediate on-shell massive particles both subtract classically singular terms from the amplitude and leave behind the transformation associated to the change of frame (2.30) and (2.31), induced by the operator  $\bar{\partial}$  (2.37). In this sense, (3.50) provides the generalization for generic velocity and frequency of the mechanism first noted in ref. [2], in the PN limit, and in ref. [52] to leading order in the soft limit.

A novelty with respect to the elastic case is instead given by the IR divergent piece in the second line of (3.50). The IR pole comes from the first term of the square parenthesis there and takes the form

$$i\,\tilde{s}_{-}^{[-1]\mu\nu} = -\frac{i}{\epsilon}GE\omega\,\frac{\sigma(\sigma^2 - \frac{3}{2})}{(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}}\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^0)\,.$$
(3.51)

We can read the IR divergent contribution of the other cuts from (3.30): since the dependence on the impact parameter is entirely in  $\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu}$ , it is straightforward to perform the Fourier transform back to momentum space obtaining

$$\tilde{c}_{1}^{\mu\nu} + \tilde{c}_{2}^{\mu\nu} = (\tilde{c}_{1}^{\mu\nu} + \tilde{c}_{2}^{\mu\nu})_{\text{reg}} + (\tilde{c}_{1}^{\mu\nu} + \tilde{c}_{2}^{\mu\nu})_{\text{div}}, \qquad \frac{i}{2} \left(\tilde{c}_{1}^{\mu\nu} + \tilde{c}_{2}^{\mu\nu}\right)_{\text{div}} = -\frac{i}{\epsilon} GE\omega \tilde{W}_{0}^{\mu\nu}.$$
 (3.52)

Since both (3.51) and (3.52) are proportional to the tree-level waveform, one can always reabsorb them into the definition of the origin of retarded time in (3.11) [88, 89]. This is equivalent to multiplication by an overall phase in frequency domain,

$$h_{\mu\nu}(x) \sim \frac{4G}{r} \int_0^\infty e^{-i\omega(U+\frac{1}{\epsilon}U_0)} \frac{\tilde{W}_{\mu\nu}^{\rm sub}(\omega n)}{\kappa} \frac{d\omega}{2\pi} + (\text{c.c.}), \qquad (3.53)$$

where

$$U_0 = GE\left[1 + \frac{\sigma(\sigma^2 - \frac{3}{2})}{(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}}\right],$$
(3.54)

so  $\tilde{W}^{\text{sub}}_{\mu\nu}$  is finite up to NLO in the PM expansion. In fact also the finite piece in the second line of (3.50) bears this form and can be canceled or modified in a similar way. By following the same logic, it is convenient to subtract with an appropriate choice of the time-origin the whole second line of (3.50), while the first line can be effectively taken into account by using everywhere  $b_e$ ,  $\tilde{u}_1$ ,  $\tilde{u}_2$ , instead of  $b_J$ ,  $v_1$ ,  $v_2$  (see eqs. (2.30), (2.31)). This will simplify the formulas presented in sections 4 and 5 below.

Let us comment on the comparison between the KMOC subtraction (3.31) and an analogous one discussed in [90, 91] in the ultrarelativistic/massless case. There,  $is^{\mu\nu}$  was subtracted, instead of  $is'^{\mu\nu}$ . This leads to a relative minus sign in the analog of (3.54), which explains the absence of IR divergences in that setup as  $\sigma \to \infty$ .<sup>7</sup>

We have performed the following cross checks on the above derivation. First, we have explicitly calculated both sides of (3.47) to leading order in the PN expansion  $\omega \sim p_{\infty} = \sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1} \rightarrow 0$ . This can be conveniently done by starting from the momentum-space expression of the tree-level 5-point amplitude, expanding it to leading order in the PN regime, and then substituting it into both (3.42) and (3.45). As a separate check, we started from the momentum-space expression for the cut in ref. [55], expanded it to LO, NLO and NNLO in the PN limit, and performed the resulting Fourier transform to impact-parameter space, finding perfect agreement with eq. (3.50).<sup>8</sup> The Fourier transforms appearing in the PN limit can be easily computed via

$$\int \frac{d^{2-2\epsilon}q_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{2-2\epsilon}} \left(1 + \frac{p_{\infty}^2 q_{\perp}^2}{\omega^2}\right)^{\nu} e^{ib \cdot q_{\perp}} = \frac{2^{\nu+\epsilon}}{\pi^{1-\epsilon}} \left(\frac{p_{\infty}}{\omega}\right)^{-1+\nu+\epsilon} \frac{K_{1+\nu-\epsilon}\left(\frac{\omega b}{p_{\infty}}\right)}{\Gamma(-\nu) b^{1+\nu-\epsilon}} \tag{3.55}$$

and derivatives thereof.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>We are grateful to Gabriele Veneziano for pointing this out to us.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In this check one needs to be careful in two steps. First, one has to use the same IR regulator on both sides of (3.50); for instance, when using the result of ref. [55] in the l.h.s. of (3.50), one needs to use  $\bar{\mu}^2 = \mu_{\rm IR}^2 4\pi e^{-\gamma}$  (see eq. (3.8) of [48]). Second, as clear from its derivation, (3.50) has to be evaluated in  $D = 4 - 2\epsilon$  dimensions; there are nontrivial  $\epsilon/\epsilon$  terms arising in the  $\epsilon \to 0$  limit of the product  $T_{\rm 1PM}\tilde{W}_0^{\mu\nu}$  on the r.h.s. of (3.50), which need to be taken into account.

We have also checked (3.47) in the soft limit  $\omega \to 0$  (for generic velocities) by explicitly calculating both of its sides at order  $\mathcal{O}(1/\omega)$ ,  $\mathcal{O}(\log \omega)$ ,  $\mathcal{O}(\omega^0)$  and  $\mathcal{O}(\omega \log \omega)$ , using the techniques detailed in subsection 4.1. Moreover, we started from the momentum-space expression for the cut in ref. [55], performed the soft limit and checked the agreement in impact parameter space directly with (3.50) to order  $\mathcal{O}(1/\omega)$ ,  $\mathcal{O}(\log \omega)$ , and  $\mathcal{O}(\omega \log \omega)$ . For these calculations, as we will discuss, one can again start from the tree-level 5-point amplitude, but care must be exerted when expanding for small  $\omega$  as two regions open up in the Fourier integral and both need to be taken into account.

### 4 Soft expansion

The soft expansion for low graviton frequency of the waveform, or equivalently its early/late limiting behavior domain, is fixed at the first few leading orders by soft theorems [57, 58, 60–62, 71]. These universal terms can be obtained by acting with an appropriate soft operator on the elastic eikonal  $e^{2i\delta}$  [92]. It is therefore interesting to exhibit explicitly the soft expansion of the waveform up to one loop.

The expansion of the waveform as  $\omega \to 0$  takes the following form,

$$\tilde{W} = \tilde{W}^{[\omega^{-1}]} + \tilde{W}^{[\log\omega]} + \tilde{W}^{[\omega^{0}]} + \tilde{W}^{[\omega(\log\omega)^{2}]} + \tilde{W}^{[\omega\log\omega]} + \cdots$$
(4.1)

and the non-analytic terms are constrained by classical soft theorems [59, 60, 62]. The last term displayed in (4.1) is dictated by the soft theorem [93] only at tree level.

#### 4.1 Method of regions in the soft limit

Although the  $\omega \to 0$  limit can be in principle performed on the full *b*-space expression of the waveform, it is often more convenient to anticipate it and take  $\omega$  to be small before performing the Fourier transform from momentum space to impact parameter. When doing so, one needs to consider two regions.

The first region is defined in terms of the following kinematic limit,

$$\omega \ll q_{\perp} \sim b^{-1} \tag{4.2}$$

with

$$k^{\mu} = \omega n^{\mu}, \qquad \omega_1 = \omega \alpha_1, \qquad \omega_2 = \omega \alpha_2, \qquad q_1^{\mu} = -\omega \alpha_2 \,\check{u}_2^{\mu} + q_{\perp}^{\mu}. \tag{4.3}$$

This region leads to dramatic simplification of the integrand to be Fourier-transformed, especially at one-loop level. There, by a suitable use of the Gram determinant identity that guarantees the cancellation of spurious poles, we find that all Fourier transforms can be reduced to the following elementary one, which can be seen as a limiting case of (3.55),

$$\int \frac{d^{2-2\epsilon} q_{\perp}}{(2\pi)^{2-2\epsilon}} (q_{\perp}^2)^{\nu} e^{ib \cdot q_{\perp}} = \frac{4^{\nu}}{\pi^{1-\epsilon}} \frac{\Gamma(1+\nu-\epsilon)}{\Gamma(-\nu)(b^2)^{1+\nu-\epsilon}}.$$
(4.4)

Contributions arising from this region are non-analytic in  $q_{\perp}^2$  and therefore long-range in b, while they are analytic in  $\omega$ .

The second region is instead characterized by

$$\omega \sim q_\perp \ll b^{-1} \,. \tag{4.5}$$

In this region, the integrand does not simplify, since by construction it is homogeneous in  $\omega \sim q_{\perp}$  in the classical limit, but one may expand out the phase factor  $e^{ib \cdot q_{\perp}} = 1 + ib \cdot q_{\perp} + \cdots$ . The Fourier integral then effectively turns into an ordinary one. For the tree level, calculations in this region can be systematized by introducing the integral family

$$I_{i_1 i_2} = \int \frac{d^{2-2\epsilon} q_\perp}{(2\pi)^{2-2\epsilon}} \frac{1}{\left(q_\perp^2 + \frac{\omega^2 \alpha_2^2}{\sigma^2 - 1}\right)^{i_1} \left((q_\perp - n_\perp)^2 + \frac{\omega^2 \alpha_1^2}{\sigma^2 - 1}\right)^{i_2}}$$
(4.6)

(the subscript  $\perp$  stands for projection orthogonal to  $u_1, u_2$ ) with master integrals

$$I_{10} = \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon)}{(4\pi)^{1-\epsilon}} \left(\frac{\alpha_2^2 \omega^2}{\sigma^2 - 1}\right)^{-\epsilon}, \qquad I_{01} = \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon)}{(4\pi)^{1-\epsilon}} \left(\frac{\alpha_1^2 \omega^2}{\sigma^2 - 1}\right)^{-\epsilon}$$
(4.7)

and

$$I_{11} = \frac{\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}}{4\pi \alpha_1 \alpha_2 \omega^2} \operatorname{arccosh} \sigma + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon) \,. \tag{4.8}$$

Contributions arising from this region are instead analytic in  $q_{\perp}^2$ , but non-analytic in  $\omega$ .

For later convenience, it is useful to introduce also the quantities

$$\tilde{\alpha}_1 = -\tilde{u}_1 \cdot k \,, \qquad \tilde{\alpha}_2 = -\tilde{u}_2 \cdot k \,, \tag{4.9}$$

which are adapted to the eikonal reference frame. When writing the NLO PM waveform in this frame, which as already mentioned takes into account in a simple way the first term of (3.50), one has to use the quantities (4.9) in all tree-level terms.

## 4.2 Universal soft terms $1/\omega$ , $\log \omega$ and $\omega (\log \omega)^2$

To leading order in the soft limit, we find that the amplitude-based waveform matches the prediction of the leading soft graviton theorem, i.e. the (linear) memory effect,<sup>9</sup>

$$\tilde{W}^{[\omega^{-1}]} = \frac{i\kappa Q}{b_e \omega \tilde{\alpha}_1^2 \tilde{\alpha}_2^2} (\tilde{\alpha}_1 \tilde{u}_2 \cdot \varepsilon - \tilde{\alpha}_2 \tilde{u}_1 \cdot \varepsilon) (2\tilde{\alpha}_1 \tilde{\alpha}_2 b_e \cdot \varepsilon + b_e \cdot n(\tilde{\alpha}_1 \tilde{u}_2 \cdot \varepsilon + \tilde{\alpha}_2 \tilde{u}_1 \cdot \varepsilon)), \quad (4.10)$$

where  $Q = Q_{1\text{PM}} + Q_{2\text{PM}} + \cdots$  is the PM impulse (2.35). For our purposes is sufficient to keep the NLO PM corrections and so we can stop at  $Q_{2\text{PM}}$  for the impulse and neglect the difference between  $\tilde{m}_i$  and  $m_i$ . The  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  contribution to (4.10) is obtained by straightforward expansion of the tree-level amplitude. Its  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  arises instead from the leading soft limit of the real part of the one-loop waveform kernel,  $\mathcal{B}_1$ , in particular from its even part  $\mathcal{B}_{1E}$ (since the odd part  $\mathcal{B}_{1O}$  is further suppressed in the soft limit, see eq. (3.22)).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>As is well known [94–96], there are extra contributions to (4.10) due to the non-linearities of gravity which we will neglect in this work: in the PM scattering waveform they start at  $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$  for the metric fluctuation.

We also find that the  $\log \omega$  soft term of the waveform matches the universal prediction [60, 62]

$$\tilde{W}^{[\log\omega]} = \kappa \frac{2Gm_1m_2\sigma(2\sigma^2 - 3)}{\tilde{\alpha}_1\tilde{\alpha}_2(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}} \left(\tilde{\alpha}_1\tilde{u}_2 \cdot \varepsilon - \tilde{\alpha}_2\tilde{u}_1 \cdot \varepsilon\right)^2 \log\left(\frac{\omega b_e \, e^{\gamma}}{2\sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}}\right) + 2iGE\omega \,\tilde{W}_0^{[\omega^{-1}]} \log\omega + \mathcal{O}(G^3) \,.$$

$$(4.11)$$

The first line of (4.11) is the tree-level contribution, for which one does not expect any running logarithm. In order to make this manifest, we made the argument of the logarithm dimensionless by including regular terms that naturally arise from the soft limit of the full tree-level frequency-domain waveform. Instead the second line of (4.11) is the one-loop contribution, but it arises entirely from the tail effect displayed explicitly in eq. (3.24), and thus it is ultimately dictated by the (soft) tree-level amplitude. The logarithm in the second line of (4.11) is therefore running, and its scale is set by the dimensional regularization  $\mu_{\text{IR}}$ in our approach. We find that the remainder  $\mathcal{M}_1$  in (3.24) does not give log  $\omega$  contributions. Indeed, considering its expansion the region defined by (4.2), we find that the Fourier transform of its  $\mathcal{O}(\omega^0)$  contributions is finite and does not give rise to any log(b). Therefore, by dimensional analysis, no log( $\omega$ ) can arise from the other region defined by (4.5).

For the  $\omega(\log \omega)^2$  behavior, again looking at the terms explicitly displayed in (3.24), we find

$$\tilde{W}^{[\omega(\log \omega)^2]} = 2iGE\omega \tilde{W}_0^{[\log \omega]} \log \omega + \mathcal{O}(G^3), \qquad (4.12)$$

once again in perfect agreement with the corresponding soft theorem [62]. Note that, following the logic highlighted by the comments in the previous paragraph,  $\tilde{W}^{[\omega(\log \omega)^2]}$  in (4.12) involves in a natural way the product of a log  $u_{\rm KT}$ , with  $u_{\rm KT} = \omega b_e / \sqrt{\sigma^2 - 1}$  as in (5.2) below, and of a running log  $\omega$ .

## 4.3 Non-universal soft term $\omega \log \omega$

While the tree-level contribution to the  $\omega \log \omega$  term,<sup>10</sup>

$$\widetilde{W}_{0}^{[\omega \log \omega]} = \kappa \frac{2iGm_{1}m_{2}\sigma(2\sigma^{2}-3)}{\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{\alpha}_{2}(\sigma^{2}-1)^{3/2}} (\widetilde{\alpha}_{1} \, \widetilde{u}_{2} \cdot \varepsilon - \widetilde{\alpha}_{2} \, \widetilde{u}_{1} \cdot \varepsilon) \\
\times [\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{\alpha}_{2} \, b_{e} \cdot \varepsilon + \widetilde{\alpha}_{2}(b_{1} \cdot n)(\widetilde{u}_{1} \cdot \varepsilon) - \widetilde{\alpha}_{1}(b_{2} \cdot n)(\widetilde{u}_{2} \cdot \varepsilon)] \, \omega \log \omega$$
(4.13)

is completely fixed by the corresponding soft theorem [93], the one-loop contribution is not, and is sensitive to non-universal terms.

A first one-loop contribution comes from  $\mathcal{B}_{1O}$  in (3.22) and is fixed in terms of a universal tree-level term,

$$\tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{1O}^{[\omega \log \omega]} = \left[1 - \frac{\sigma(\sigma^2 - \frac{3}{2})}{(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}}\right] \pi GE\omega \,\tilde{W}_0^{[\log \omega]} \,. \tag{4.14}$$

No contributions arise instead from  $\mathcal{B}_{1E}$ . We have reached this conclusion by explicitly calculating its expansion up to  $\omega^1$  in the region (4.2) and by checking that the Fourier

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Since we are now working in the MPM frame, the eikonal impact parameter must be used throughout and  $b_i$  in (4.13) should be interpreted as in (3.43), but with  $b_e$  at the place of  $b_J$ .

transform (4.4) of the resulting expression is finite and does not give rise to any  $\log(b)$  (hence, no  $\log \omega$  can come from the other region (4.5)). From the *C*-channel cuts, (3.24), we have

$$\frac{i}{2} (\tilde{c}_1 + \tilde{c}_2)^{[\omega \log \omega]} = iGE \left[ -\frac{1}{\epsilon} + \log \frac{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}{\mu_{\rm IR}^2} \right] \omega \tilde{W}_0^{[\log \omega]} + 2iGE\omega \log \omega \tilde{W}_0^{[\omega^0]} + i\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_1^{[\omega \log \omega]},$$

$$(4.15)$$

where  $\tilde{W}_0^{[\log \omega]}$  is given in the first line<sup>11</sup> of (4.11), while  $\tilde{W}_0^{[\omega^0]}$  and  $\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_1^{[\omega \log \omega]}$  will be given in (4.16) and (4.19) below. Eq. (4.15) involves a universal part in the first line (including the scale of the running logarithm in (4.12)) and non-universal contributions in the second line.

The tree-level term  $\tilde{W}_0^{[\omega^0]}$  can be obtained either by expanding the known tree-level waveform [35–38] or can be more conveniently calculated by expanding the tree-level amplitude [40] in the two regions (4.2), (4.5) and summing the two contributions. In this second way one sees that, separately, each region gives rise to singularities which however cancel in the sum. Correspondingly,  $\log(b)$  and  $\log \omega$  terms arising from the two regions neatly combine to reconstruct  $\log(\omega b)$  in the sum, thus unambiguously fixing the non-logarithmic terms as well. As a result, we have

$$\widetilde{W}_{0}^{[\omega^{0}]} = \kappa (\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{u}_{2} \cdot \varepsilon - \widetilde{\alpha}_{2}\widetilde{u}_{1} \cdot \varepsilon)^{2} \left[ \frac{Gm_{1}m_{2}\sigma(2\sigma^{2} - 3)}{\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{\alpha}_{2}(\sigma^{2} - 1)^{3/2}} \log (\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{\alpha}_{2}) - \frac{2Gm_{1}m_{2}(2\sigma^{2} - 1)}{\mathcal{P}\sqrt{\sigma^{2} - 1}} \right] 
+ \kappa \frac{4Gm_{1}m_{2}}{\mathcal{P}} \left[ \frac{(\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{u}_{2} \cdot \varepsilon - \widetilde{\alpha}_{2}\widetilde{u}_{1} \cdot \varepsilon)^{2}}{\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}\widetilde{\alpha}_{2}\mathcal{P}} \left( g_{3} \operatorname{arccosh} \sigma + g_{2} \log \frac{\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}}{\widetilde{\alpha}_{2}} \right) 
+ \frac{2\sigma^{2} - 1}{2b^{2}\widetilde{\alpha}_{1}^{2}\sqrt{\sigma^{2} - 1}} g_{1} \right] - ib_{2} \cdot n \, \omega \widetilde{W}_{0}^{[\omega^{-1}]}.$$
(4.16)

Here,

$$\mathcal{P} = -\tilde{\alpha}_1^2 + 2\tilde{\alpha}_1\tilde{\alpha}_2\sigma - \tilde{\alpha}_2^2 \ge 0, \qquad (4.17)$$

and

$$g_3 = \tilde{\alpha}_2^2 \tilde{\alpha}_1^2 \left( 2\sigma^2 + 1 \right) - 2\tilde{\alpha}_2 \tilde{\alpha}_1^3 \sigma - 2\tilde{\alpha}_2^3 \tilde{\alpha}_1 \sigma + \tilde{\alpha}_1^4 + \tilde{\alpha}_2^4, \qquad (4.18a)$$

$$g_2 = -\frac{\tilde{\alpha}_1^2 - \tilde{\alpha}_2^2}{4(\sigma^2 - 1)^{3/2}} \left[ \sigma(2\sigma^2 - 3) \left( \tilde{\alpha}_1^2 + \tilde{\alpha}_2^2 \right) + 2\tilde{\alpha}_1 \tilde{\alpha}_2 \right],$$
(4.18b)

$$g_1 = -\mathcal{P}(\tilde{\alpha}_1 \, b_e \cdot \varepsilon + (b_e \cdot n)(\tilde{u}_1 \cdot \varepsilon))^2 \,. \tag{4.18c}$$

Note that combining the two terms in the last line of (4.16) makes the expression manifestly symmetric under particle-interchange symmetry, but we prefer to keep them separate in order to highlight their different origin.

Finally, from the remainder  $\mathcal{M}_1$  in eq. (3.24), we obtain

$$i\tilde{\mathcal{M}}_{1}^{[\omega\log\omega]} = i\kappa\omega\log\omega G^{2} m_{1}^{2}m_{2}\frac{2\sigma(\alpha_{1} u_{2}\cdot\varepsilon - \alpha_{2} u_{1}\cdot\varepsilon)^{2}}{(\sigma^{2}-1)^{3/2}\mathcal{P}} \times \left[\frac{2\sigma^{2}-3}{\mathcal{P}}\left(f_{3}\frac{\operatorname{arccosh}\sigma}{(\sigma^{2}-1)^{3/2}} + f_{2}\frac{1}{\alpha_{2}}\log\frac{\alpha_{1}}{\alpha_{2}}\right) - \frac{f_{1}}{\alpha_{2}(\sigma^{2}-1)}\right] + (1\leftrightarrow2),$$

$$(4.19)$$

<sup>11</sup>At subleading order in the PM expansion, analytic terms in  $\omega$  are irrelevant for our analysis of the soft limit, so the equations of these section should be understood up to such terms.

where we can neglect the difference between tilded and untilded quantities, since this result is already a NLO PM quantity, and

$$f_{3} = \alpha_{1}^{3} \left( 4\sigma^{4} - 6\sigma^{2} + 1 \right) + \alpha_{2}\alpha_{1}^{2}\sigma \left( -4\sigma^{4} + 4\sigma^{2} + 3 \right) + \alpha_{2}^{2}\alpha_{1} \left( 4\sigma^{4} - 6\sigma^{2} - 1 \right) + \alpha_{2}^{3}\sigma \left( 3 - 2\sigma^{2} \right),$$
(4.20a)

$$f_2 = -\alpha_1^4 - \alpha_2^4,$$
 (4.20b)

$$f_1 = \alpha_1^2 \left( -\left(\sigma^2 - 1\right) \right) + \alpha_2 \alpha_1 \sigma \left( 4\sigma^4 - 6\sigma^2 + 1 \right) + \alpha_2^2 \left( -4\sigma^4 + 7\sigma^2 - 2 \right).$$
(4.20c)

Since we are targeting the  $\omega \log \omega$  terms, we calculated (4.19) by expanding  $\mathcal{M}_1$  only in the first region, (4.2), we disregarded the  $1/\epsilon$  terms, which would cancel with analogous ones arising from the other region, and focused on the  $\omega \log(b)$  terms, which, by dimensional analysis, must appear with the same prefactor as the  $\omega \log \omega$  terms in the other region (4.5).

Collecting all the relevant contributions, from (3.31) and (4.1), we can then extract the  $\omega \log \omega$  term of the NLO subtracted amplitude (3.53). For this term, which will be the main focus of the next section, we have

$$\tilde{W}_{1}^{[\omega \log \omega]} = \tilde{\mathcal{B}}_{1O}^{[\omega \log \omega]} + \frac{i}{2} (\tilde{c}_{1} + \tilde{c}_{2})_{\text{reg}}^{[\omega \log \omega]}, \qquad (4.21)$$

where we used (3.52), and let us recall that we can neglect all analytic terms in  $\omega$  and NNLO PM contributions on the right hand side of (4.21).

#### 5 Gravitational-wave tails in the soft regime

In the Post-Newtonian (PN) approach it is convenient to expand the metric fluctuation (3.53) at null-infinity in multipole moments of the SO(3) acting on  $\hat{n}$ , the spatial part of  $k^{\mu}/\omega$ ,

$$k^{\mu} = \omega(1, \hat{n}), \qquad (5.1)$$

working in the center-of-mass frame (see [31] and references therein). The reason for this is that higher order multipoles are suppressed in small velocity limit,

$$\sigma = \sqrt{1 + p_{\infty}^2}, \qquad p_{\infty} \ll 1 \qquad \text{with } u_{\text{KT}} = \frac{\omega b_e}{p_{\infty}} \quad \text{fixed}.$$
 (5.2)

To be precise, increasing by one the order of the multipole considered brings an extra factor of  $p_{\infty}$ . There are two types of multipoles involved in the decomposition mentioned above which are usually denoted by  $U_L$  and  $V_L$  which indicate symmetric trace-free tensors of order  $\ell$  in Cartesian 3D space. We can reconstruct the spatial part of the PN waveform just by using these multipoles as follows [31]

$$\tilde{W}_{ij}(\omega n) = \sum_{\ell=2}^{\infty} \frac{\kappa}{\ell!} \left[ n^{i_1} \cdots n^{i_{\ell-2}} \mathcal{U}_{iji_1 \cdots i_{\ell-2}} - \frac{\ell}{\ell+1} n^k n^{i_1} \cdots n^{i_{\ell-2}} \left( \epsilon_{khi} \mathcal{V}_{jhi_1 \dots i_{\ell-2}} + i \leftrightarrow j \right) \right],$$
(5.3)

where we follow the notation of [2]. The physical waveform is the projection of the result above along the physical " $\times$ " and "+" polarizations, and have been extensively used in the

PN literature to extract more inclusive observables such as the radiated (angular) momentum, see for instance [33, 34, 97–99]. Again by following [2], we will parametrize the result in terms of the angles of  $\hat{n}$  adopting the conventions,

$$\hat{n} = (\sin\theta\cos\phi, \sin\theta\sin\phi, \cos\theta),$$
  

$$\vec{\varepsilon} = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}}(\cos\theta\cos\phi + i\sin\phi, \cos\theta\sin\phi - i\cos\phi, -\sin\theta),$$
  

$$\vec{p} = |\vec{p}|(0, 1, 0), \quad \vec{b}_e = b_e(1, 0, 0),$$
(5.4)

so that  $\hat{n} \cdot \vec{\varepsilon} = \vec{\varepsilon} \cdot \vec{\varepsilon} = 0$ , by using

$$\tilde{W}(\omega,\theta,\phi) = \varepsilon^i \varepsilon^j \tilde{W}_{ij}(\omega n) .$$
(5.5)

The standard approach is to calculate the gravitational field in the near-zone by solving the Einstein equations with a stress-energy tensor appropriate to the binary motion and then analyze its propagation up to future null infinity (again see [31] for a review). For the tree-level waveform the second part of the calculation is trivial and one can simply identify the  $U_L$ 's and  $V_L$ 's with the near-zone field (whose multipoles are usually referred to as  $I_L$ 's for the representation corresponding to  $U_L$  and  $J_L$  for the one corresponding to  $V_L$ ). One can obtain these  $I_L$ 's and  $J_L$ 's at tree level by simply taking the limit (5.2) on the leading PM waveform [35–38] and performing the multipolar decomposition. We checked up to  $\ell = 4$  that this yields the correct PN results for  $U_L$  and  $V_L$  as already emphasized in [2]. At subleading PN orders there are several effects that need to be taken into account to reconstruct the full waveform at null infinity starting from the near-zone multipoles. They are neatly summarized in [2], where they are explicitly spelled out for the scattering case of interest to us. It is interesting to connect the various contributions on the PN side to the different terms of the PM waveform as derived from scattering amplitudes. The following pattern emerges:

• The expansion in the PN regime (5.2) of the tree-level PM waveform yields corrections weighted by  $p_{\infty}^{2k}$ , with k = 1, 2, ..., to the leading contributions of each multipole (so, integer PN corrections of order k relative to the leading term, according to the standard nomenclature). This can be checked explicitly, but also proved in general by noticing that the PM-waveform is even under the transformation

$$(p_{\infty}, \hat{n}) \leftrightarrow (-p_{\infty}, -\hat{n})$$
 with  $u_{\text{KT}}, b$  fixed. (5.6)

This means that each factor of  $p_{\infty}$  arising from the expansion is accompanied by a factor of  $\hat{n}$ , which changes the order  $\ell$  of the multipole by one. For instance, can use the explicit expression of the frequencies  $\omega_i$  in the center of mass frame,

$$\omega_1 = \omega \, \frac{m_1 + m_2(\sigma - \vec{v} \cdot \hat{n} \, p_\infty)}{E} \qquad \omega_2 = \omega \, \frac{m_2 + m_1(\sigma + \vec{v} \cdot \hat{n} \, p_\infty)}{E} \tag{5.7}$$

to check that they have the same parity as  $\omega$  under this transformation, i.e. they are odd.

• Also the even part of the irreducible one-loop contribution (dubbed  $\mathcal{B}_{1E}^{\mu\nu}$  in (3.21) is even under (5.6). So it has the same parity as the second term in the square parenthesis

in (3.22) and both yield relative PN corrections that have integer order. By taking the PN expansion of these terms, we reproduced eq. (7.1) and (7.2) of [2], noticing that the first result comes from the part of  $\mathcal{B}_{1O}^{\mu\nu}$ , which is even under (5.6), while the second one comes from  $\mathcal{B}_{1E}^{\mu\nu}$ .

- The contribution coming from the *s*-channel cut discussed in section 3.2 is again even under (5.6). This is consistent with (3.50) and thus provides further support for that result.
- Instead the contributions coming from the *c*-channel cuts discussed in section 3.1 are odd under (5.6) exactly as the first term in the square parenthesis in (3.22). Thus the PN expansion of these terms does not mix with that of the rest of the NLO PM waveform and yields half-integer PN corrections to the leading contribution for each multipole (i.e. terms weighted by  $p_{2k+1}^{2k+1}$ , with k = 1, 2, ...).

We checked the properties above numerically on the full 1-loop results and it would be interesting to find a more analytic understanding of this structure and, in particular, why the *s*-channel and the *c*-channel cuts behave differently under (5.6).

In any case, this makes the mismatches at 2.5 PN order found in [2] even more interesting as they cannot be solved by the inclusion of the new contribution pointed out in [1] and discussed in section 3.2. As emphasized in [2], the most surprising mismatch is in the probe limit, where one of the masses is taken to be much larger than the other one, for instance we can take  $m_1 \gg m_2$ . It is standard to introduce

$$\nu = \frac{m_1 m_2}{m^2}, \qquad m = m_1 + m_2, \qquad \Delta = \frac{m_1 - m_2}{m},$$
(5.8)

and so in the probe limit the waveform is linear in the symmetric mass-ratio  $\nu$ . The order  $G^2$  of this linear-in- $\nu$  contribution to  $\tilde{W}$  is *entirely* captured by a very simple result in the PN approach: the so-called tail terms [44, 49, 50, 89, 100]. Thus, let us first focus on this contribution  $\mathcal{O}(G^2\nu)$  of the waveform and revisit the mismatch between the PM amplitude-based and PN results which is discussed in [2]. We will do so in the soft limit by using the results of section 4. As already discussed there, the first three terms in the soft expansion of the PM waveform agree with what is obtained from the soft theorems and, as shown in [2], match the PN results. So from now we will focus on the  $\omega \log \omega$  term which is the first one where the mismatch found in [2] appears.

Starting on the PM side, we can consider the two contributions to  $\tilde{W}_1^{[\omega \log \omega]}$  in (4.21) and adjust the scale  $\mu_{\text{IR}}$  by setting

$$\log \mu_{\rm IR} = -\log \tilde{b}_0 + \frac{1}{2},$$
 (5.9)

for later convenience,  $12^{12}$  obtaining

$$\tilde{W}_{1}^{[\omega\log\omega]} = \mathcal{B}_{1O}^{[\omega\log\omega]} + \tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega\log\omega]} + 2iGE \log\tilde{b}_{0}\,\omega\tilde{W}_{0}^{[\log\omega]} \,, \tag{5.10}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>The  $+\frac{1}{2}$  is chosen so as to directly match (5.16) to leading PN order.

where the first term has an extra factor of  $\pi$  with the respect to the second one, which comes instead from the Compton cuts (4.15). By focusing on the latter, which contains the non-universal part, and saturating it as in (5.5), we obtain,

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega]}}{\kappa \omega \log \omega} = -\frac{1}{24 p_{\infty}} i G^2 m^3 \nu \left( 35(\cos(2\theta) + 3)\cos(2\phi) + 140i\cos(\theta)\sin(2\phi) + 22\sin^2(\theta) \right) 
+ \frac{1}{60} G^2 m^3 \Delta \nu \sin(\theta)(\cos(\phi) + i\cos(\theta)\sin(\phi)) 
\times (\cos(\theta)(307\cos(2\phi) - 67) + 614i\sin(\phi)\cos(\phi)) 
+ \frac{1}{120} p_{\infty} i G^2 m^3 \nu \left[ (139\cos(2\theta) + 57\cos(4\theta) + 600)\cos(2\phi) 
+ 2\sin^2(\theta) (\cos(2\theta)(51\cos(4\phi) + 63) + 204i\cos(\theta)\sin(4\phi) + 153\cos(4\phi) + 460) 
+ 4i (178\cos(\theta) + 21\cos(3\theta))\sin(2\phi) \right] + \mathcal{O}(p_{\infty}^2) + (\text{quadratic in } \nu) .$$
(5.11)

On the PN side, when focusing on the linear-in- $\nu$  sector, we can neglect the non-linearities of gravity and focus just on the near-zone multipoles (the  $I_L$ 's) and the contribution from the tail formula [44, 49, 50]<sup>13</sup>

$$U_{L}^{\text{tail}}(U) = 2GE \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\tau \, I_{L}^{(\ell+2)}(U-\tau) \left[ \log\left(\frac{\tau}{2b_{0}}\right) + \kappa_{\ell} \right],$$
  

$$V_{L}^{\text{tail}}(U) = 2GE \int_{0}^{+\infty} d\tau \, J_{L}^{(\ell+2)}(U-\tau) \left[ \log\left(\frac{\tau}{2b_{0}}\right) + \pi_{\ell} \right],$$
(5.12)

with

$$\kappa_{\ell} = \frac{2\ell^2 + 5\ell + 4}{\ell(\ell+1)(\ell+2)} + \sum_{k=1}^{\ell-2} \frac{1}{k}$$

$$\kappa_2 = \frac{11}{12}, \quad \kappa_3 = \frac{97}{60}, \quad \kappa_4 = \frac{59}{30}, \quad \dots \quad .$$
(5.13)

See [31] for an explicit formula for the  $\pi_{\ell}$  appearing in the  $V_L$ 's: we will not need it in our current analysis as the contributions depending on  $\pi_{\ell}$  are negligible in the soft-limit including at the order  $\omega \log \omega$ . Of course we could change the values of  $\kappa_{\ell}$  and  $\pi_{\ell}$  by an overall shift if we redefine the cutoff  $b_0$  appearing in (5.12). Taking the Fourier transform of (5.12) to frequency space, we get

$$U_L^{\text{tail}}(U) = 2GEi\omega I_L^{(\ell)}(\omega) \left[ \log(2b_0\omega) + \gamma - \kappa_\ell - i\frac{\pi}{2} \right].$$
(5.14)

Let us stress that the result (5.12) is quite surprising from the amplitudes point of view: when evaluated at the first non-trivial order,  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$ , it implies that the half-integer PN corrections to each multipole are proportional to the tree-level result (since at order G we have  $U_L = I_L^{(\ell)}$ ). As discussed above, these contributions come from the *c*-channel cuts on the amplitudes side and there is no obvious reason why they should be related in a simple way to the tree-level result. Another important point is that, by taking the soft limit (5.14), there are two sources of  $\omega \log \omega$  terms: the first one is the  $(\omega \log \omega)^0$  contribution from the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup>At the order of interest here, we can neglect the distinction between intermediate- and near-zone multipoles.

 $\mathcal{O}(G)$  term of  $I_L^{(\ell)}$  (i.e. the tree-level multipole moment) and the factor of log  $\omega$  in the square parenthesis, while the second contribution comes from the constant terms in the same square parenthesis multiplied by the  $\omega^0 \log \omega$  terms from  $I_L^{(\ell)}$  (note the overall  $\omega$  in (5.14)). Thus, at this order, the soft result is sensitive to values of  $\kappa_\ell$  reported in (5.13) and, as already mentioned in the previous section, to non-universal parts of the soft waveform. We can derive this second, non-universal, contribution by using the  $\omega^0$  term in (4.16) and the first one, which depends on the  $\kappa_\ell$ 's, by using the log  $\omega$  term in (4.11). The terms with an extra factor of  $\pi$  simply reproduce the PN-odd terms of the first contribution in (5.10), as is clear by comparing (4.14) with (5.14). Therefore, adjusting the arbitrary scales by

$$\log(2b_0) = \log \tilde{b}_0 - \gamma , \qquad (5.15)$$

we arrive at the following result for the counterpart of  $\tilde{W}_C^{[\omega \log \omega]}$  in (5.10) as obtained from the MPM approach [31],

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega],\text{MPM}}}{\kappa \omega \log \omega} =$$

$$- \frac{1}{24 p_{\infty}} i G^2 m^3 \nu \left( 35(\cos(2\theta) + 3) \cos(2\phi) + 140 i \cos(\theta) \sin(2\phi) + 22 \sin^2(\theta) \right) \\
+ \frac{1}{60} G^2 m^3 \Delta \nu \sin(\theta) (\cos(\phi) + i \cos(\theta) \sin(\phi)) (\cos(\theta) (307 \cos(2\phi) - 67) + 614 i \sin(\phi) \cos(\phi)) \\
+ \frac{1}{120} p_{\infty} i G^2 m^3 \nu \left[ \left( 79 \cos(2\theta) + 57 \cos(4\theta) + 420 \right) \cos(2\phi) \\
+ 2 \sin^2(\theta) \left( 51(\cos(2\theta) + 3) \cos(4\phi) + 204 i \cos(\theta) \sin(4\phi) + 63 \cos(2\theta) + 400 \right) \\
+ 4i \cos(\theta) (42 \cos(2\theta) + 97) \sin(2\phi) \right] + \mathcal{O}(p_{\infty}^2) + (\text{quadratic in } \nu) \,.$$
(5.16)

For  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ , we have checked that (5.16) agrees with the corresponding terms of the MPM result in eq. (9.11) of [2]. By comparing (5.16) and (5.11) we note that, at first sight, they differ by an  $\mathcal{O}(p_{\infty})$  term. However, we can find agreement also at that order by performing the following shift in the retarded time U appearing in (3.53),

$$U \mapsto U + 2Gmp_{\infty}^2 \tag{5.17}$$

and expanding for small G. This is equivalent to considering the infinitesimal (retarded) time translation of the metric fluctuation

$$h_{\mu\nu} = g_{\mu\nu} - \eta_{\mu\nu}, \qquad \delta h_{\mu\nu} = 2Gmp_{\infty}^2 \partial_U h_{\mu\nu}, \qquad (5.18)$$

or to deforming the cutoff redefinition (5.9) in a manner similar to (5.17). The order  $\nu$  part of the waveform can be obtained also by studying the perturbation around the solution describing a single black hole, see for instance [101]. This approach has been reconsidered in [102] by using recent progress on the connection problem for the Heun equation and it would be interesting to compare also with the results obtained in this way. Let us now move on to the  $\mathcal{O}(G^2\nu^2)$  terms, for which, using the soft-expanded amplitude results of section 4, we find

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega]}}{\kappa \omega \log \omega} = (\text{linear in } \nu) 
+ \frac{G^2 m^3 \nu^2}{160} p_{\infty} \Big[ 822 \sin(2\theta) \sin(\theta) \sin(4\phi) - i(142 \cos(2\theta) + 231(\cos(4\theta) + 5)) \cos(2\phi) 
- i \sin^2(\theta) (\cos(2\theta)(411 \cos(4\phi) + 513) + 1233 \cos(4\phi) + 775) 
+ 4 \cos(\theta)(171 \cos(2\theta) + 211) \sin(2\phi) \Big] + \mathcal{O}(p_{\infty}^2).$$
(5.19)

On the MPM side, in addition to contributions arising from the tails,  $\nu^2$  terms also receive nonlinear contributions arising from relations among near- and intermediate-zone multipoles that need to be combined in order to produce the far-zone ones and start appearing at relative  $1/c^5$  PN order. For example, from [2],

$$U_{ijkl}^{QQ} = G\left[-\frac{21}{5}I_{\langle ij}I_{kl\rangle}^{(5)} - \frac{63}{5}I_{\langle ij}^{(1)}I_{kl\rangle}^{(4)} - \frac{102}{5}I_{\langle ij}^{(2)}I_{kl\rangle}^{(3)}\right].$$
(5.20)

Note that contributions of this kind start mattering in  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  multipoles, and hence in the  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  metric fluctuation, because the quadrupole moment employed in the PN literature has a *G*-independent piece that is determined by the free trajectories and is quadratic in the time *t*. As a result,  $I_{ij}$ ,  $I_{ij}^{(1)}$  and  $I_{ij}^{(2)}$  start at  $\mathcal{O}(G^0)$ , while  $I_{ij}^{(\geq 3)}$  start at order *G*. Moreover, contributions like (5.20) are clearly quadratic in  $\nu$ , since each multipole brings about a factor of the mass-ratio. Combining the  $\nu^2$  arising from the tail formula (5.12) with the quadratic contributions akin to (5.20), we obtain

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega],\text{MPM}}}{\kappa \omega \log \omega} = (\text{linear in } \nu)$$

$$- \frac{G^2 m^3 \nu^2}{160} i p_{\infty} \Big[ 842i \sin(2\theta) \sin(\theta) \sin(4\phi) \\
+ (102 \cos(2\theta) + 241 \cos(4\theta) + 1025) \cos(2\phi) \\
+ \sin^2(\theta) (421(\cos(2\theta) + 3) \cos(4\phi) + 543 \cos(2\theta) + 705) \\
+ 4i \cos(\theta) (181 \cos(2\theta) + 161) \sin(2\phi) \Big] + \mathcal{O}(p_{\infty}^2) \,.$$
(5.21)

We have cross-checked (5.16) against the corresponding terms in eq. (9.11) of [2] for  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ . Once again, the two results (5.21) and (5.19) do not match at face value, but we can find agreement upon performing the following transformation in (3.53),

$$U \mapsto U - T(n), \qquad T(n) = 2G(m_1\alpha_1 \log \alpha_1 + m_2\alpha_2 \log \alpha_2)$$
(5.22)

and expand for small G. This is equivalent to an infinitesimal transformation,

$$\delta_T h_{\mu\nu} = -T(n) \,\partial_U h_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{5.23}$$

Up to static contributions, which we systematically disregard by focusing on  $\omega > 0$  in frequency domain (and which would only affect the  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  metric fluctuation), we recognize this as the action of the supertranslation (see e.g. [71, 103–105])

$$\delta_T h_{AB} = -T(n) \,\partial_u h_{AB} + r \left[ 2D_A D_B - \gamma_{AB} \Delta \right] T(n) \tag{5.24}$$

on the angular part of the metric,  $h_{AB} = r^2 (\partial_A \hat{n})^i (\partial_B \hat{n})^j h_{ij}$  where  $A, B = \theta, \phi$ , while  $\gamma_{AB} = (\partial_A \hat{n}) \cdot (\partial_B \hat{n})$  is the metric on the 2-sphere,  $D_A$  is the associated covariant derivative and  $\Delta = \gamma^{AB} D_A D_B$ . Following the terminology of ref. [3], the supertranslation appearing in (5.24) is precisely the one needed to move from the "canonical" BMS frame, where the asymptotic shear vanishes in the far past, to the "intrinsic" one, where the asymptotic shear is nonzero even in the far past and in the PM expansion starts with an  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  constant term dictated by the velocities of the incoming objects. The intrinsic frame is the standard supertranslation frame employed in the PN literature, where the static terms in the leading-order multipoles play a crucial role, for instance via non-linearities such as eq. (5.20).

The combined effect of (5.17), (5.22) is to fully resolve the following "mismatch" between the  $\omega \log \omega$  waveform the amplitude-based approach, given by (5.11), (5.19), and the analogous MPM result, given by (5.16), (5.21),

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega]} - \tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega], \text{MPM}}}{\kappa \omega \log \omega} = -iG^{2}m^{3}\nu p_{\infty} \left(\nu \sin^{2}(\theta) \sin^{2}(\phi) + \nu - 2\right) \left(\cos(\phi) + i\cos(\theta)\sin(\phi)\right)^{2} + \mathcal{O}(p_{\infty}^{2}).$$
(5.25)

Restricting to the equatorial plane  $\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}$ , and focusing on terms that are even under  $\phi \to \phi + \pi$ , eq. (5.25) reduces to

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega]} - \tilde{W}_{C}^{[\omega \log \omega], \text{MPM}}}{\kappa \omega \log \omega} \Big|_{\theta = \frac{\pi}{2}} \qquad (5.26)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} p_{\infty} i G^{2} m^{3} \nu \cos^{2}(\phi) (4 + \nu (\cos(2\phi) - 3)) + \mathcal{O}(p_{\infty}^{2}) + (\text{odd}),$$

in agreement with the difference between (5.11), (5.19) and eq. (9.11) of ref. [2]. The result in (5.26) has also been derived by [72]. To reiterate, with the supertranslation function T(n)given in (5.22) [3], one can obtain agreement, between the MPM expression of ref. [2] and the waveform obtained from the amplitude computed in [45, 46, 48] in the PN limit,

$$\frac{\tilde{W}_C^{[\omega\log\omega]} - \tilde{W}_C^{[\omega\log\omega],\text{MPM}} - i\omega\left(2Gmp_\infty^2 - T(n)\right)\tilde{W}_0^{[\log\omega]}}{\kappa\omega\log\omega} = \mathcal{O}(p_\infty^2).$$
(5.27)

## 6 Conclusions and outlook

In this paper, we investigated the gravitational scattering waveform at subleading order, shedding light on its structure and properties. We first clarified the role played by the KMOC cut contribution involving intermediate states with two massive particles pointed out in ref. [1], and which had been neglected in refs. [45–48]. We have shown that it can be neatly rewritten as a simple differential operator acting on the tree-level waveform, as in eq. (3.50). Its inclusion thus simply amounts to rotating the basis vectors  $b_J \mapsto b_e$ ,  $-p_{1,2} \mapsto \tilde{p}_{1,2}$  as in (2.30), (2.31), much like it happens for the subleading PM impulse, and shifting the origin of (retarded) time. This translation in time is in fact divergent and is related to the Shapiro time delay, as already recognized in [1, 2]. This result clarifies how amplitude-based calculations of observables, in particular both the impulse and the waveform, calculated in the KMOC approach consistently hold in the  $b_J$ ,  $-p_{1,2}$  frame. Instead the eikonal approach works in the  $b_e$ ,  $\tilde{p}_{1,2}$  frame, so that the cut pointed out in [1] does not appear, and the naive exponentiation of [54] seems to work also at this order. The eikonal approach yields directly the frame used in MPM approach.

Our next target has been the expansion of the waveform in the soft limit  $\omega \to 0$ , for generic velocities. Besides checking that the  $\frac{1}{\omega}$ ,  $\log \omega$ ,  $\omega (\log \omega)^2$  contributions in this limit perfectly match the universal predictions dictated by soft theorems [61, 62], we have also been able to obtain a compact explicit expression, detailed in eq. (4.15), (4.16), (4.19) for the first non-universal contribution,  $\omega \log \omega$ . This is not fixed by soft theorems at one-loop, i.e. subleading PM, level. For this calculation, we developed a method of expansion by regions adapted to the soft limit of the waveform.

Using such explicit and handy results, we have been able to revisit the mismatch discussed in ref. [2] between the waveform obtained from the amplitude EFT approach and the one derived from the MPM formalism in the PN limit, i.e. for small velocities. While all universal soft terms match straightforwardly between the two approaches, the comparison for  $\omega \log \omega$ requires more care. Still, we have shown that the agreement between the amplitude and MPM results can be recovered by suitably shifting the origin of retarded time and by performing the BMS supertranslation (5.24). The latter connects the canonical "asymptotic" frame [3], where the early-time shear is zero and where the amplitude result holds, to the "intrinsic" one, where the shear has a constant  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  piece as systematically assumed in the PN literature. This solves the mismatch pointed out in [2] up to and including relative 2.5PN i.e.  $1/c^5$  order.

The presence of such supertranslation-dependent static terms is indeed crucial in the MPM-PN formalism, where several  $\mathcal{O}(G^2)$  multipoles take the form of non-linear contributions given by G times an  $\mathcal{O}(G^0)$  static piece times an  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  dynamic piece. In other words, such terms arise due to the non-linearities of gravity. On the contrary, the amplitudes approach discussed here should be interpreted "without the static modes" to use a nomenclature introduced in [20]. One should then perform the supertranslation derived in [3] to compare with the PN results. However, when working at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$  with the full-time dependent waveform, the action of the supertranslation involving a time-derivative in eqs. (5.22), (5.24), and not just on the static  $\mathcal{O}(G)$  part, must be taken into account. It would be interesting to explore if the amplitude approach can be adapted to produce the MPM result directly in the supertranslation frame "including the static modes", as well as to study the dependence on the asymptotic frame in the presence of additional vector or scalar fields.

Let us now move to the open issues. It would be of course interesting to go beyond the soft limit and check the mechanisms proposed here on the full PN waveform up to  $1/c^5$ so as to complete the comparison with [2]. In this respect, it will be important to better understand why we obtain a different result for the difference between amplitude and MPM waveform compared to eq. (9.13) of [2]. In that reference, the amplitude-based result was obtained by doing the expansions in the opposite order compared to the approach we took here, i.e. starting with low velocity limit and then performing the soft limit. We expect that the comparison between amplitude and MPM results for the subleading PM waveform will work to any PN order and any frequency up to properly adjusting the (super)translation frame as discussed here. Of course, it would be very interesting to perform such comparison explicitly beyond what has it has been considered in this paper: this would provide highly non-trivial checks both on the expressions entering the quasi-Keplerian orbits and on the various relations that link, within the MPM approach, the near-zone field with the asymptotic values at null infinity (see for instance [34, 106, 107] and references therein).

A systematic expansion of the subleading PM waveform in the PN limit calls for a rewriting of the 5-point 1-loop amplitude in order to tame the technical complication arising from the presence of spurious poles in its expression. The issue here is that, while the full result for the waveform is well-behaved in the PN limit, separately its different contributions involving rational as well as logarithmic terms are very singular. The smooth PN limit is recovered only thanks to highly nontrivial cancellations among all various pieces. This mechanism is already present, in a harmless form, e.g. in the results for the radiated energy-momentum [77], but given the much larger size of the waveform expression, the presence of such singularities in intermediate results represents a nontrivial technical obstacle for performing the PN (and, partly, also soft) expansion of this observable. It would thus be highly desirable to reorganize the result in a way, if any, that makes such spurious poles harmless (and steps in this directions have already been taken [56]).

Another potential development concerns the extension to NLO of waveform calculations to take into account physical effects associated to more complicated binaries, for instance involving spinning black holes or different astrophysical objects, like neutron stars, that can be subject to tidal deformations. It will be interesting to test the role of the supertranslation frame also in those contexts, to see whether the pattern found here is, as we suspect, more general.

Moving forward, it will be important to put to the test the straightforward exponentiation pattern dictated by the eikonal operator proposed in [53, 54], for which the next nontrivial check is represented by the classical 2-loop 5-point amplitude. The present work highlights an additional piece of appeal of that calculation, which would make it possible to check non-linearities involving all non zero-frequency gravitons.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like thank Francesco Alessio, Donato Bini, Lara Bohnenblust, Thibault Damour, Paolo Di Vecchia, Andrea Geralico, Radu Roiban, Fei Teng, Gabriele Veneziano for several interesting conversations and suggestions, and Stefano De Angelis for collaboration on a related project. A. G. is supported by a Royal Society funding, URF\R\221015. C. H. is supported by U.K. Research and Innovation (UKRI) under the U.K. government's Horizon Europe funding guarantee [grant EP/X037312/1 "EikoGrav: Eikonal Exponentiation and Gravitational Waves"]. R. R. is partially supported by the U.K. EPSRC grant "CFT and Gravity: Heavy States and Black Holes" EP/W019663/1 and the STFC grants "Amplitudes, Strings and Duality", grant numbers ST/T000686/1 and ST/X00063X/1. R. R. would like to thank IHES for hospitality during the initial stages of this project. No new data were generated or analysed during this study.

**Open Access.** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

#### References

- S. Caron-Huot, M. Giroux, H.S. Hannesdottir and S. Mizera, What can be measured asymptotically?, JHEP 01 (2024) 139 [arXiv:2308.02125] [INSPIRE].
- [2] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Comparing one-loop gravitational bremsstrahlung amplitudes to the multipolar-post-Minkowskian waveform, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 124052
   [arXiv:2309.14925] [INSPIRE].
- G. Veneziano and G.A. Vilkovisky, Angular momentum loss in gravitational scattering, radiation reaction, and the Bondi gauge ambiguity, Phys. Lett. B 834 (2022) 137419
   [arXiv:2201.11607] [INSPIRE].
- [4] T. Damour, High-energy gravitational scattering and the general relativistic two-body problem, Phys. Rev. D 97 (2018) 044038 [arXiv:1710.10599] [INSPIRE].
- [5] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From Boundary Data to Bound States, JHEP 01 (2020) 072 [arXiv:1910.03008] [INSPIRE].
- [6] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From boundary data to bound states. Part II. Scattering angle to dynamical invariants (with twist), JHEP **02** (2020) 120 [arXiv:1911.09130] [INSPIRE].
- [7] G. Cho, G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, From boundary data to bound states. Part III. Radiative effects, JHEP 04 (2022) 154 [Erratum ibid. 07 (2022) 002] [arXiv:2112.03976] [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Buonanno and T. Damour, Effective one-body approach to general relativistic two-body dynamics, Phys. Rev. D 59 (1999) 084006 [gr-qc/9811091] [INSPIRE].
- [9] A. Buonanno and T. Damour, Transition from inspiral to plunge in binary black hole coalescences, Phys. Rev. D 62 (2000) 064015 [gr-qc/0001013] [INSPIRE].
- [10] M. Khalil, A. Buonanno, J. Steinhoff and J. Vines, Energetics and scattering of gravitational two-body systems at fourth post-Minkowskian order, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 024042 [arXiv:2204.05047] [INSPIRE].
- T. Damour and P. Rettegno, Strong-field scattering of two black holes: Numerical relativity meets post-Minkowskian gravity, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 064051 [arXiv:2211.01399]
   [INSPIRE].
- [12] P. Rettegno et al., Strong-field scattering of two spinning black holes: Numerical relativity versus post-Minkowskian gravity, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 124016 [arXiv:2307.06999] [INSPIRE].
- [13] D. Neill and I.Z. Rothstein, Classical Space-Times from the S Matrix, Nucl. Phys. B 877 (2013) 177 [arXiv:1304.7263] [INSPIRE].
- [14] N.E.J. Bjerrum-Bohr et al., General Relativity from Scattering Amplitudes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 121 (2018) 171601 [arXiv:1806.04920] [INSPIRE].
- [15] C. Cheung, I.Z. Rothstein and M.P. Solon, From Scattering Amplitudes to Classical Potentials in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. **121** (2018) 251101 [arXiv:1808.02489] [INSPIRE].
- [16] D.A. Kosower, B. Maybee and D. O'Connell, Amplitudes, Observables, and Classical Scattering, JHEP 02 (2019) 137 [arXiv:1811.10950] [INSPIRE].
- [17] A. Koemans Collado, P. Di Vecchia and R. Russo, Revisiting the second post-Minkowskian eikonal and the dynamics of binary black holes, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 066028
   [arXiv:1904.02667] [INSPIRE].

- [18] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni and G. Veneziano, Superstring Collisions at Planckian Energies, Phys. Lett. B 197 (1987) 81 [INSPIRE].
- [19] D. Amati, M. Ciafaloni and G. Veneziano, Classical and Quantum Gravity Effects from Planckian Energy Superstring Collisions, Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 3 (1988) 1615 [INSPIRE].
- [20] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, *The gravitational eikonal: from particle, string and brane collisions to black-hole encounters*, arXiv:2306.16488 [INSPIRE].
- [21] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes and the Conservative Hamiltonian for Binary Systems at Third Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 122 (2019) 201603 [arXiv:1901.04424]
   [INSPIRE].
- [22] Z. Bern et al., Black Hole Binary Dynamics from the Double Copy and Effective Theory, JHEP 10 (2019) 206 [arXiv:1908.01493] [INSPIRE].
- [23] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes and Conservative Binary Dynamics at  $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$ , Phys. Rev. Lett. **126** (2021) 171601 [arXiv:2101.07254] [INSPIRE].
- [24] Z. Bern et al., Scattering Amplitudes, the Tail Effect, and Conservative Binary Dynamics at  $\mathcal{O}(G^4)$ , Phys. Rev. Lett. **128** (2022) 161103 [arXiv:2112.10750] [INSPIRE].
- [25] P.H. Damgaard, E.R. Hansen, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, The relation between KMOC and worldline formalisms for classical gravity, JHEP 09 (2023) 059 [arXiv:2306.11454] [INSPIRE].
- [26] G. Kälin and R.A. Porto, Post-Minkowskian Effective Field Theory for Conservative Binary Dynamics, JHEP 11 (2020) 106 [arXiv:2006.01184] [INSPIRE].
- [27] G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Conservative Dynamics of Binary Systems to Third Post-Minkowskian Order from the Effective Field Theory Approach, Phys. Rev. Lett. 125 (2020) 261103 [arXiv:2007.04977] [INSPIRE].
- [28] C. Dlapa, G. Kälin, Z. Liu and R.A. Porto, Dynamics of binary systems to fourth Post-Minkowskian order from the effective field theory approach, Phys. Lett. B 831 (2022) 137203 [arXiv:2106.08276] [INSPIRE].
- [29] G. Kälin, J. Neef and R.A. Porto, Radiation-reaction in the Effective Field Theory approach to Post-Minkowskian dynamics, JHEP **01** (2023) 140 [arXiv:2207.00580] [INSPIRE].
- [30] C. Dlapa et al., Radiation Reaction and Gravitational Waves at Fourth Post-Minkowskian Order, Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 (2023) 101401 [arXiv:2210.05541] [INSPIRE].
- [31] L. Blanchet, Gravitational Radiation from Post-Newtonian Sources and Inspiralling Compact Binaries, Living Rev. Rel. 17 (2014) 2 [arXiv:1310.1528] [INSPIRE].
- [32] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Radiative contributions to gravitational scattering, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 084031 [arXiv:2107.08896] [INSPIRE].
- [33] D. Bini and A. Geralico, Frequency domain analysis of the gravitational wave energy loss in hyperbolic encounters, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 104019 [arXiv:2108.02472] [INSPIRE].
- [34] D. Bini, T. Damour and A. Geralico, Radiated momentum and radiation reaction in gravitational two-body scattering including time-asymmetric effects, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) 024012 [arXiv:2210.07165] [INSPIRE].
- [35] S.J. Kovacs and K.S. Thorne, The Generation of Gravitational Waves. 3. Derivation of Bremsstrahlung Formulas, Astrophys. J. 217 (1977) 252 [INSPIRE].
- [36] S.J. Kovacs and K.S. Thorne, The Generation of Gravitational Waves. 4. Bremsstrahlung, Astrophys. J. 224 (1978) 62 [INSPIRE].

- [37] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Classical Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from a Worldline Quantum Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 201103
   [arXiv:2101.12688] [INSPIRE].
- [38] S. Mougiakakos, M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung in the post-Minkowskian effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 024041 [arXiv:2102.08339]
   [INSPIRE].
- [39] W.D. Goldberger and A.K. Ridgway, Radiation and the classical double copy for color charges, Phys. Rev. D 95 (2017) 125010 [arXiv:1611.03493] [INSPIRE].
- [40] A. Luna, I. Nicholson, D. O'Connell and C.D. White, Inelastic Black Hole Scattering from Charged Scalar Amplitudes, JHEP 03 (2018) 044 [arXiv:1711.03901] [INSPIRE].
- [41] G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Classical black hole scattering from a worldline quantum field theory, JHEP 02 (2021) 048 [arXiv:2010.02865] [INSPIRE].
- [42] L. Blanchet and T. Damour, Tail Transported Temporal Correlations in the Dynamics of a Gravitating System, Phys. Rev. D 37 (1988) 1410 [INSPIRE].
- [43] T. Damour and B.R. Iyer, Multipole analysis for electromagnetism and linearized gravity with irreducible cartesian tensors, Phys. Rev. D 43 (1991) 3259 [INSPIRE].
- [44] L. Blanchet and T. Damour, Hereditary effects in gravitational radiation, Phys. Rev. D 46 (1992) 4304 [INSPIRE].
- [45] A. Brandhuber et al., One-loop gravitational bremsstrahlung and waveforms from a heavy-mass effective field theory, JHEP 06 (2023) 048 [arXiv:2303.06111] [INSPIRE].
- [46] A. Herderschee, R. Roiban and F. Teng, The sub-leading scattering waveform from amplitudes, JHEP 06 (2023) 004 [arXiv:2303.06112] [INSPIRE].
- [47] A. Elkhidir, D. O'Connell, M. Sergola and I.A. Vazquez-Holm, Radiation and Reaction at One Loop, arXiv:2303.06211 [INSPIRE].
- [48] A. Georgoudis, C. Heissenberg and I. Vazquez-Holm, *Inelastic exponentiation and classical gravitational scattering at one loop*, *JHEP* **06** (2023) 126 [arXiv:2303.07006] [INSPIRE].
- [49] L. Blanchet and T. Damour, Postnewtonian Generation of Gravitational Waves, Ann. Inst. H. Poincare Phys. Theor. 50 (1989) 377 [INSPIRE].
- [50] L. Blanchet, Second postNewtonian generation of gravitational radiation, Phys. Rev. D 51 (1995) 2559 [gr-qc/9501030] [INSPIRE].
- [51] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Radiative classical gravitational observables at O(G<sup>3</sup>) from scattering amplitudes, JHEP 10 (2021) 148 [arXiv:2104.03957] [INSPIRE].
- [52] R. Aoude, K. Haddad, C. Heissenberg and A. Helset, Leading-order gravitational radiation to all spin orders, Phys. Rev. D 109 (2024) 036007 [arXiv:2310.05832] [INSPIRE].
- [53] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg, R. Russo and G. Veneziano, *Classical gravitational observables* from the Eikonal operator, *Phys. Lett. B* 843 (2023) 138049 [arXiv:2210.12118] [INSPIRE].
- [54] A. Cristofoli et al., The Uncertainty Principle and Classical Amplitudes, arXiv:2112.07556
   [INSPIRE].
- [55] A. Georgoudis, C. Heissenberg and I. Vazquez-Holm, Addendum to: Inelastic exponentiation and classical gravitational scattering at one loop, JHEP 02 (2024) 161 [arXiv:2312.14710] [INSPIRE].

- [56] L. Bohnenblust, H. Ita, M. Kraus and J. Schlenk, *Gravitational Bremsstrahlung in Black-Hole* Scattering at  $\mathcal{O}(G^3)$ : Linear-in-Spin Effects, arXiv:2312.14859 [INSPIRE].
- [57] S. Weinberg, Photons and Gravitons in S-Matrix Theory: Derivation of Charge Conservation and Equality of Gravitational and Inertial Mass, Phys. Rev. **135** (1964) B1049 [INSPIRE].
- [58] S. Weinberg, Infrared photons and gravitons, Phys. Rev. 140 (1965) B516 [INSPIRE].
- [59] A. Laddha and A. Sen, Observational Signature of the Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Graviton Theorem, Phys. Rev. D 100 (2019) 024009 [arXiv:1806.01872] [INSPIRE].
- [60] B. Sahoo and A. Sen, Classical and Quantum Results on Logarithmic Terms in the Soft Theorem in Four Dimensions, JHEP 02 (2019) 086 [arXiv:1808.03288] [INSPIRE].
- [61] A.P. Saha, B. Sahoo and A. Sen, *Proof of the classical soft graviton theorem in* D = 4, *JHEP* **06** (2020) 153 [arXiv:1912.06413] [INSPIRE].
- [62] B. Sahoo and A. Sen, Classical soft graviton theorem rewritten, JHEP 01 (2022) 077 [arXiv:2105.08739] [INSPIRE].
- [63] T. Damour, Radiative contribution to classical gravitational scattering at the third order in G, Phys. Rev. D 102 (2020) 124008 [arXiv:2010.01641] [INSPIRE].
- [64] A.V. Manohar, A.K. Ridgway and C.-H. Shen, Radiated Angular Momentum and Dissipative Effects in Classical Scattering, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 121601 [arXiv:2203.04283]
   [INSPIRE].
- [65] P. Di Vecchia, C. Heissenberg and R. Russo, Angular momentum of zero-frequency gravitons, JHEP 08 (2022) 172 [arXiv:2203.11915] [INSPIRE].
- [66] P. Mao, J.-B. Wu and X. Wu, Angular momentum and memory effect, Phys. Rev. D 107 (2023) L101501 [arXiv:2301.08032] [INSPIRE].
- [67] M.M. Riva, F. Vernizzi and L.K. Wong, Angular momentum balance in gravitational two-body scattering: Flux, memory, and supertranslation invariance, Phys. Rev. D 108 (2023) 104052 [arXiv:2302.09065] [INSPIRE].
- [68] G. Compère, S.E. Gralla and H. Wei, An asymptotic framework for gravitational scattering, Class. Quant. Grav. 40 (2023) 205018 [arXiv:2303.17124] [INSPIRE].
- [69] A. Ashtekar and N. Khera, Unified treatment of null and spatial infinity IV: angular momentum at null and spatial infinity, JHEP 01 (2024) 085 [arXiv:2311.14190] [INSPIRE].
- [70] R. Javadinezhad and M. Porrati, *Three Puzzles with Covariance and Supertranslation* Invariance of Angular Momentum Flux (with Solutions), arXiv:2312.02458 [INSPIRE].
- [71] A. Strominger and A. Zhiboedov, Gravitational Memory, BMS Supertranslations and Soft Theorems, JHEP 01 (2016) 086 [arXiv:1411.5745] [INSPIRE].
- [72] F. Teng, Understanding the NLO Scattering Waveform Soft Limit and Post-Newtonian Expansion, talk at QDC Meets Gravity IX, CERN, Geneva, Switzerland (2023), https://indico.cern.ch/event/1317494/contributions/5697874/attachments/2771674/ 4829575/waveform.pdf.
- [73] W.D. Goldberger and I.Z. Rothstein, An Effective field theory of gravity for extended objects, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104029 [hep-th/0409156] [INSPIRE].
- [74] R.A. Porto, Post-Newtonian corrections to the motion of spinning bodies in NRGR, Phys. Rev. D 73 (2006) 104031 [gr-qc/0511061] [INSPIRE].

- [75] R.A. Porto, The effective field theorist's approach to gravitational dynamics, Phys. Rept. 633 (2016) 1 [arXiv:1601.04914] [INSPIRE].
- [76] A. Cristofoli, P.H. Damgaard, P. Di Vecchia and C. Heissenberg, Second-order Post-Minkowskian scattering in arbitrary dimensions, JHEP 07 (2020) 122 [arXiv:2003.10274] [INSPIRE].
- [77] E. Herrmann, J. Parra-Martinez, M.S. Ruf and M. Zeng, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung from Reverse Unitarity, Phys. Rev. Lett. 126 (2021) 201602 [arXiv:2101.07255] [INSPIRE].
- [78] P.H. Damgaard, E.R. Hansen, L. Planté and P. Vanhove, Classical observables from the exponential representation of the gravitational S-matrix, JHEP 09 (2023) 183
   [arXiv:2307.04746] [INSPIRE].
- [79] P.H. Damgaard, L. Plante and P. Vanhove, On an exponential representation of the gravitational S-matrix, JHEP 11 (2021) 213 [arXiv:2107.12891] [INSPIRE].
- [80] A. Brandhuber, G. Chen, G. Travaglini and C. Wen, *Classical gravitational scattering from a gauge-invariant double copy*, *JHEP* **10** (2021) 118 [arXiv:2108.04216] [INSPIRE].
- [81] J.P. Gatica, The Eikonal Phase and Spinning Observables, arXiv:2312.04680 [INSPIRE].
- [82] A. Cristofoli, R. Gonzo, D.A. Kosower and D. O'Connell, Waveforms from amplitudes, Phys. Rev. D 106 (2022) 056007 [arXiv:2107.10193] [INSPIRE].
- [83] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and J. Steinhoff, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung and Hidden Supersymmetry of Spinning Bodies, Phys. Rev. Lett. 128 (2022) 011101 [arXiv:2106.10256]
   [INSPIRE].
- [84] S. Mougiakakos, M.M. Riva and F. Vernizzi, Gravitational Bremsstrahlung with Tidal Effects in the Post-Minkowskian Expansion, Phys. Rev. Lett. 129 (2022) 121101 [arXiv:2204.06556] [INSPIRE].
- [85] G.U. Jakobsen, G. Mogull, J. Plefka and B. Sauer, All things retarded: radiation-reaction in worldline quantum field theory, JHEP 10 (2022) 128 [arXiv:2207.00569] [INSPIRE].
- [86] S. De Angelis, R. Gonzo and P.P. Novichkov, *Spinning waveforms from KMOC at leading order*, arXiv:2309.17429 [INSPIRE].
- [87] A. Brandhuber et al., Resummed spinning waveforms from five-point amplitudes, JHEP 02 (2024) 026 [arXiv:2310.04405] [INSPIRE].
- [88] W.D. Goldberger and A. Ross, Gravitational radiative corrections from effective field theory, Phys. Rev. D 81 (2010) 124015 [arXiv:0912.4254] [INSPIRE].
- [89] R.A. Porto, A. Ross and I.Z. Rothstein, Spin induced multipole moments for the gravitational wave amplitude from binary inspirals to 2.5 Post-Newtonian order, JCAP 09 (2012) 028 [arXiv:1203.2962] [INSPIRE].
- [90] M. Ciafaloni, D. Colferai, F. Coradeschi and G. Veneziano, Unified limiting form of graviton radiation at extreme energies, Phys. Rev. D 93 (2016) 044052 [arXiv:1512.00281] [INSPIRE].
- [91] M. Ciafaloni, D. Colferai and G. Veneziano, Infrared features of gravitational scattering and radiation in the eikonal approach, Phys. Rev. D 99 (2019) 066008 [arXiv:1812.08137]
   [INSPIRE].
- [92] F. Alessio and P. Di Vecchia, 2PM waveform from loop corrected soft theorems, arXiv:2402.06533 [INSPIRE].
- [93] D. Ghosh and B. Sahoo, Spin-dependent gravitational tail memory in D = 4, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 025024 [arXiv:2106.10741] [INSPIRE].

- [94] D. Christodoulou, Nonlinear nature of gravitation and gravitational wave experiments, Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 (1991) 1486 [INSPIRE].
- [95] A.G. Wiseman and C.M. Will, Christodoulou's nonlinear gravitational wave memory: Evaluation in the quadrupole approximation, Phys. Rev. D 44 (1991) R2945 [INSPIRE].
- [96] K.S. Thorne, Gravitational-wave bursts with memory: The Christodoulou effect, Phys. Rev. D 45 (1992) 520 [INSPIRE].
- [97] D. Bini and A. Geralico, Higher-order tail contributions to the energy and angular momentum fluxes in a two-body scattering process, Phys. Rev. D 104 (2021) 104020 [arXiv:2108.05445] [INSPIRE].
- [98] G. Cho, S. Dandapat and A. Gopakumar, Third order post-Newtonian gravitational radiation from two-body scattering: Instantaneous energy and angular momentum radiation, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 084018 [arXiv:2111.00818] [INSPIRE].
- [99] G. Cho, Third post-Newtonian gravitational radiation from two-body scattering. II. Hereditary energy radiation, Phys. Rev. D 105 (2022) 104035 [arXiv:2203.10872] [INSPIRE].
- [100] L. Blanchet and G. Schaefer, Gravitational wave tails and binary star systems, Class. Quant. Grav. 10 (1993) 2699 [INSPIRE].
- [101] Y. Mino et al., Black hole perturbation: Chapter 1, Prog. Theor. Phys. Suppl. 128 (1997) 1 [gr-qc/9712057] [INSPIRE].
- [102] F. Fucito and J.F. Morales, Post Newtonian emission of gravitational waves from binary systems: a gauge theory perspective, arXiv:2311.14637 [INSPIRE].
- [103] R. Sachs, Asymptotic symmetries in gravitational theory, Phys. Rev. 128 (1962) 2851 [INSPIRE].
- [104] G. Barnich and C. Troessaert, Aspects of the BMS/CFT correspondence, JHEP 05 (2010) 062 [arXiv:1001.1541] [INSPIRE].
- [105] T. He, V. Lysov, P. Mitra and A. Strominger, BMS supertranslations and Weinberg's soft graviton theorem, JHEP 05 (2015) 151 [arXiv:1401.7026] [INSPIRE].
- [106] C.K. Mishra, K.G. Arun and B.R. Iyer, Third post-Newtonian gravitational waveforms for compact binary systems in general orbits: Instantaneous terms, Phys. Rev. D 91 (2015) 084040 [arXiv:1501.07096] [INSPIRE].
- [107] G. Cho, A. Gopakumar, M. Haney and H.M. Lee, Gravitational waves from compact binaries in post-Newtonian accurate hyperbolic orbits, Phys. Rev. D 98 (2018) 024039 [arXiv:1807.02380]
   [INSPIRE].